
 

 
 

Pension Fund Committee 
 
Date: Wednesday, 21 September 2022 
Time: 10.00 am 
Venue: Council Chamber, County Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ 
 

Members (Quorum: 3)  

Simon Christopher, Andy Canning (Chairman), Peter Wharf (Vice-Chairman), 
John Beesley, David Brown, Bobbie Dove, Howard Legg, Mark Roberts and Adrian Felgate 

 
Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ  

 
For more information about this agenda please contact Democratic Services  
Meeting Contact  david.northover@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting, apart from any items listed in 

the exempt part of this agenda. 
 
For easy access to all the council’s committee agendas and minutes download the free 

public app called Modern.Gov for use on any iPad, Android, and Windows tablet.  Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council. 

 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Item  Pages 
 

1.   APOLOGIES 

 

 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 

 

 

2.   MINUTES 

 
5 - 12 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 14 June 2022. 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
 

 To disclose any pecuniary, other registrable or personal interest as set 

out in the adopted Code of Conduct.  In making their decision 
councillors are asked to state the agenda item, the nature of the 

interest and any action they propose to take as part of their declaration. 
 
If required, further advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer 

in advance of the meeting.  

 

Public Document Pack



 

 
4.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

 
 

 To receive questions or statements on the business of the committee 
from town and parish councils and members of the public.  

 
All submissions must be emailed in full to 
DemocraticServices@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk by 8.30am on Thursday, 15 

September 2022. 
 

 

5.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS 

 
 

 To receive questions submitted by councillors. 

 
All submissions must be emailed in full to 

DemocraticServices@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk by 8.30am on Thursday, 15 
September 2022. 
 

 

6.   URGENT ITEMS 

 
 

 To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall be 

recorded in the minutes. 
 

 

7.   EXTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE 

 
 

 To receive an update on the progress of the external audits of the 

pension fund accounts and annual reports from the pension fund’s 
external auditor, Deloitte. 

 

 

8.   BRUNEL PENSION PARTNERSHIP QUARTERLY REPORT 

 
13 - 68 

 To consider the quarterly performance report of Brunel Pension 
Partnership, the pension fund’s Local Government Pension Scheme 

(LGPS) investment pooling manager. 
 

 

9.   INDEPENDENT INVESTMENT ADVISER'S REPORT 

 

69 - 74 

 To consider the quarterly report of the pension fund’s independent 

investment adviser on the outlook for the pension fund’s investments. 
 

 

10.   PENSIONS ADMINISTRATION REPORT 

 

75 - 148 

 To consider the quarterly report on pension fund administration. 

 

 

11.   FUND ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT 

 
149 - 
178 

 To consider the quarterly report on the funding position, the value and 
performance of investments and other related issues. 

 

 

12.   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  

mailto:DemocraticServices@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:DemocraticServices@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


 

 
 To confirm the dates for the meetings of the Committee in 2022/23: 

 

10am Tuesday 29 November 2022 – County Hall, Dorchester 
10am Tuesday 14 March 2023 – County Hall, Dorchester 

 

 

13.   EXEMPT BUSINESS 

 
 

 To move the exclusion of the press and the public for the following item 
in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the 

meaning of paragraph 3 of schedule 12 A to the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended).  

The public and the press will be asked to leave the meeting whilst the 
item of business is considered. 

 

 

14.   INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT CHANGES 

 
179 - 
220 

 To consider proposed changes to investment management 
arrangements.   

 

 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

PENSION FUND COMMITTEE 

 
MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2022 

 
Present: Cllrs Simon Christopher, Andy Canning (Chairman), John Beesley, 

David Brown and Mark Roberts 
 
Present - online: Cllr Bobbie Dove and Adrian Felgate (scheme member 

representative). 

 
Apologies: Cllrs Peter Wharf and Howard Legg 

 
Also present (for all or part of the meeting):   Steve Tyson, Independent 

Investment Adviser, MJ Hudson, David Cox and Luke O’Donnell, Brunel Pension 

Partnership, James Wardlaw and Sherine Ashraf, Federated Hermes. 
 
Officers present (for all or part of the meeting):  Aidan Dunn (Executive 

Director – Corporate Development), Jim McManus (Corporate Director – Finance 
and Commercial), Karen Gibson (Service Manager – Pensions), David Wilkes  

(Services Manager - Treasury and Investments) and Charlotte Eggleton (Senior 
Accountant – Treasury and Investments). 
 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ir0ITP6FlrM 

  
 

 

 

 
157.   Apologies 

 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Howard Legg and Peter 
Wharf (Vice-Chairman) – both Dorset Council. 

 
158.   Declarations of Interest 

 

No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made at the meeting. 
 

159.   Minutes 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 10 March 2022 were confirmed by the 

Chairman. 
 

160.   Public Participation 

 
There were no questions or statements from members of the public or from 

town and parish councils. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Ir0ITP6FlrM


2 

161.   Questions from Members 

 
There were no questions from members. 

 
162.   Urgent items 

 
There were no urgent items for consideration.  
 

163.   BRUNEL PENSION PARTNERSHIP QUARTERLY REPORT 

 

The Committee considered the quarterly report of Brunel Pension Partnership 
(Brunel), the pension fund’s Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
investment pooling manager.  

 
The market context for the quarter to 31 March 2022 had been very difficult 

and had continued into April and May 2022.  Central banks had started to 
raise interest rates and tighten quantitative easing.  The Russian invasion of 
Ukraine had adversely impacted the supply and price of many commodities 

which had led to significant inflationary pressure, and increased demand for 
energy in winter could feed through into yet higher oil prices. It was expected 

that there would be recessions of some sort across the globe. 
 
Many of Brunel’s active portfolios had underperformed their benchmarks in 

the quarter largely due to a sharp change in markets favouring ‘value’ stocks, 
such as energy providers and banks, over ‘growth’ stocks, such as 

technology.  Brunel’s underweight positions in high carbon emitting 
companies had driven underperformance.  Brunel’s Paris aligned passive 
equites funds had underperformed their ‘parent’ market capitalisation indices 

in the quarter but had outperformed Brunel’s active equity portfolios. 
 

Underperformance had continued up to the end of May 2022, with Brunel’s 
active equities portfolios behind their benchmarks by 2.5% for global equites 
and 1% for UK equities.  Concerns were raised about how long this 

underperformance might continue, whether lost performance could be 
recovered in full, the potential impact on funding levels and scheme employer 

contributions, and what actions the Committee could take if underperformance 
persisted.  The Committee were also concerned that Brunel’s Chief 
Executive’s commentary did not refer to investment underperformance but 

instead focused on other matters.  
 

Stress testing of the investment strategy was undertaken when the strategy 
was periodically reviewed by the investment consultant appointed to assist 
with the review.  Stress testing was also done on an ongoing basis by Brunel 

and its underlying investment managers.  Brunel looked at hundreds of 
different scenarios and combinations of events. 

 
Brunel achieved diversification through the appointment of underlying 
investment managers with a blend of different investment styles and through 

holdings across sectors and geographies.  Brunel would provide information 
on the proportion of their underlying investment managers who had 

outperformed their benchmarks since appointment. 

Page 6



3 

 
Resolved 

That Brunel provide information on the proportion of their underlying 

investment managers who had outperformed their benchmarks since 
appointment. 

 
 
 

164.   BRUNEL GOVERNANCE UPDATE 

 

Cllr John Beesley, the pension fund’s representative on the Brunel Oversight 
Board (BOB) and also a member of the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board (SAB), 
updated the Committee on governance matters relating to investment pooling. 

 
SAB acted as a conduit between central government and LGPS investment 

pools.  Consultation on proposed changes to pooling regulations had been put 
back to the autumn.  SAB were working with government to get greater clarity 
on the potential implications of the government’s ‘levelling up’ White Paper for 

LGPS funds.  
 

Concerns regarding Brunel’s recent investment performance had been raised 
with Brunel’s Chief Executive and Chief Investment Officer, and the latter 
would be attending the next meeting of the Committee in September 2022.  

Investment performance must be Brunel’s top priority.  Reporting needed to 
be more streamlined and more frequent, and there needed to be greater 

assurance that investment managers were being held to account by Brunel, 
with details of any remedial action shared with client funds. 
 

Prior to the implementation of the requirement for LGPS funds to pool 
investments the Committee had a much closer relationship with its investment 

managers and could take action to address underperformance including 
termination of mandates.  Now that investments were largely under Brunel’s 
management, the Committee needed a better understanding of the actions it 

could take if underperformance persisted. 
 

Brunel were undertaking a review of their strategy and the first iteration of this 
was discussed at the oversight board in June.  Cllr Beesley invited feedback 
into this review and a questionnaire for members would be developed and 

circulated. 
 

Over recent years a huge amount of time had been spent on governance 
issues and responsible investment policies.  Investment performance should 
always be the most important issue for Brunel, because of the potential 

adverse impacts on funding levels and scheme employer contribution rates. 
Need to demonstrate that the pension fund was getting value for money from 

Brunel.  More information was needed comparing LGPS investment pools and 
LGPS pension funds. 
 

The work of the Committee should be better publicised, both within Dorset 
Council and more widely.  More frequent meetings of the Committee should 

also be considered. 

Page 7



4 

 
Resolved 

That a questionnaire be developed and circulated to Committee members to 

share their views on Brunel’s strategic direction. 
 

 
165.   PENSIONS ADMINISTRATION REPORT 

 

The Committee considered a report from officers on operational and 
administration matters relating to the pension fund.  The pensions 

administration team continued to do a good job in difficult circumstances and 
there had been some improvements in Key Performance Indicators (KPI).  All 
major issues with the new system implementation had been resolved but 

recruitment and retention of experienced staff continued to be a challenge. 
 

The new administration system had coped well with end of year processes but 
there had challenges getting good data from a higher number of scheme 
employers than in previous years. This data was fundamental to the 

administration of the pension fund as it was used for the calculation of 
pensions payable, Annual Benefits Illustrations (ABIs) and tax allowances, 

and it also fed into the actuarial valuation process.  Penalties would be issued 
to employers to cover the cost of additional work created by data 
shortcomings. 

 
Officers spent a large amount of time dealing with problems with data from 

scheme employers who had outsourced their payroll provision. Officers made 
clear the LGPS data requirements before such outsourcing decisions were 
taken but often this was not fully taken into consideration.  Officers spent a lot 

of time each year looking at the potential implications of the annual tax 
allowance requirements for scheme members but less time looking at the 

potential implications of the lifetime allowance. 
 
Scheme employer contributions in the LGPS are set by each pension fund’s 

actuary for each employer and are the same percentage of pensionable pay 
for all scheme members.  Scheme member contributions are set nationally 

and are tiered so that higher paid scheme members contribute a higher 
percentage of their pensionable pay than lower paid scheme members. 
 
Noted 

 

166.   INDEPENDENT INVESTMENT ADVISER'S REPORT 

 
The Committee considered a report from Steve Tyson, MJ Hudson, the 

pension fund’s Independent Investment Adviser, that gave his views on the 
economic background to the pension fund’s investments, the outlook for 

different asset classes and key market risks. 
 
The key issues facing the pension fund were inflation, interest rate rises and 

central bank monetary tightening.  It was a very difficult environment for all 
pension funds, and it appeared likely that the UK and US were heading 

towards recession. 

Page 8



5 

 
A review of the pension fund’s investment strategy would be undertaken 
following the completion of the actuarial valuation when the funding position 

would be known.  The review would need to take into consideration changing 
economic circumstances and outlook for different asset classes.  

 
Noted 

 

167.   FUND ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT 

 

The Committee considered a report from officers on the pension fund’s 
funding position, asset valuation, investment performance and asset 
allocation as at 31 March 2022. 

 
The investment return for the quarter was -2.6% compared to the combined 

benchmark return of -0.3%.  The total return for the 12 months to March 2022 
was 10.1% compared to the benchmark return of 11.3%.  The main detractor 
to performance in the quarter was the performance of all the Brunel active 

portfolios as had been discussed earlier in the meeting.  
 

The funding position estimated by the actuary was that the value of the 
pension fund’s assets at 31 December 2021 covered 89% of the present 
value of liabilities. This estimate has not been updated as at 31 March 2022, 

as the actuary was working on the full valuation as at this date.  Draft results 
of this exercise were expected September 2022. 

 
Approximately 60% of the pension fund’s assets were under the management 
of Brunel. The main assets not under Brunel’s management were property 

investments, corporate bonds and the Liability Driven Investment (LDI) 
mandate. 

 
The Independent Investment Adviser cautioned that the valuations of private 
markets were ‘lagged’ by a quarter and therefore were not yet reflective of the 

‘bear market’ pricing seen in public markets. 
 
Noted 
 

 

168.   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 

 

In addition to the quarterly meetings of the Committee a programme of 
training would take place at the offices of investment managers in London on 
Wednesday 14th and Thursday 15th September 2022.  This would give 

Committee members the opportunity to discuss in depth the key issues facing 
the pension fund and from these discussions policies would be developed for 

consideration at the meetings open to the public. 
 
It was agreed that the future needs and locations for Committee meetings and 

training be considered at the meeting of the Committee 21st September 2022. 
 
Resolved 

Page 9



6 

That:  
i. meetings of the Pension Fund Committee be held on the following dates: 

 10am Wednesday 21 September 2022 (County Hall, Dorchester) 

 10am Tuesday 29 November 2022  

 10am Tuesday 14 March 2023 

ii. a two-day programme of training for members of the Committee be held 
in London on Wednesday 14th and Thursday 15th September 2022. 

iii. future needs and locations for Committee meetings and training be 
considered at the meeting of the Committee 21st September 2022. 

 

 
169.   Exempt Business 

 
Resolved 

That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 

excluded from the meeting for the business specified in minutes 170 and 171 
because it was likely that if members of the public were present there would 

be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 
1 of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing that information. 

 
170.   FEDERATED HERMES INVESTMENT UPDATE 

 
The Committee received a presentation from Federated Hermes, one of the 
pension fund’s infrastructure investments manager.  Federated Hermes gave 

an update on performance to date and the outlook for the future, plus details 
of fund structure changes aimed at reducing costs and improving liquidity. 

 
Performance had improved significantly since Federated Hermes had 
previously presented to the Committee in November 2021 and the outlook 

was more positive.  It was therefore agreed that the investment mandate with 
Federated Hermes be continued 

 
Resolved 

That the investment mandate with Federated Hermes be continued.  

 
171.   INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT CHANGES 

 
The Committee considered potential changes to current investment 
management arrangements that could be implemented ahead of the full 

review of the pension fund’s investment strategy later this financial year.   
 
Resolved 

That the proposed changes to investment management arrangements be 
implemented.  

 
 

 
 

Duration of meeting: 10.00 am - 1.00 pm 

 

Page 10



7 

 
Chairman 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Information Classification: Public

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 8



Contents

Page 3     -    Brunel News

Page 4     -    Executive Summary

Page 5     -    Market Summary - Listed Markets Equities

Page 7     -    Market Summary - Head of Private Markets

Page 10     -    Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Page 12     -    Summary of Pension Fund Performance

Page 13     -    Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

Page 15     -    Legacy Manager Performance

Page 16     -    Brunel Portfolios Overview

Forging better futures
Information Classification: Public

Dorset County Pension Fund

Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Page 2 of 56

P
age 14



Brunel News

After a return to the office in the first quarter, the second saw Brunel reaching something like a new normal for hybrid working. As we had hoped, staff are
increasingly treating the office as a tool and not a master, and so maximising its benefits for home-work separation, interaction, team building, and meetings
(from one-to-one supervisions through to Client Group and Board). Most recently, heat avoidance has been added to the list! Our new approach has not
only enabled us to provide greater flexibility as a benefit for our staff – and magnet for future staff. It has also prevented us moving to larger, more expensive
premises – staff numbers now far exceed our workstation capacity.
 
Good workplace practices were also a focus of our engagement through the period. Brunel was one of a coalition of 29 asset owners, led by CCLA, to write
to the CEOs of the UK’s 100 largest companies calling for improved mental health practices at work. Internally, we instigated a series of wellbeing seminars
and sessions at Brunel, as well as launching a wellbeing survey of staff.
 
Our core values and themes were once again in evidence, as was our desire for full scrutiny of whether we are living up to them, in our 2022 RI &
Stewardship Outcomes Report. The report is designed, among other things, to satisfy an extensive list of reporting criteria laid out by the Financial Conduct
Authority – which the FCA uses to ensure RI reporting shows sufficient due diligence. In this year’s report, published in May, we introduced a new priority
theme of biodiversity. “Investors and corporations must recognise that accounting for biodiversity-related impacts is critical,” said Laura Chappell, CEO.
“Companies must start preparing for the impending reality of nature-related disclosure due in 2023.”
 
Climate investing was no less a focus for it over the period. Our Climate Stocktake had already been initiated in Autumn 2021 but much of the consultation
and analysis work picked up in earnest over the quarter. In a studio interview with AssetTV on the subject of the Stocktake Faith Ward, Chief RI Officer at
Brunel, pointed to how global events only underline the importance of such a process. “What we have experienced in the last few months – particularly the
knock-on effects from the invasion of Ukraine – are a bump from an energy transition perspective,” said Ward. “So you need review points.”
 
Speaking on the same topic at a conference hosted by the FT and Pensions Expert, David Vickers, CIO, reeled off some of the key climate metrics that
Brunel has targeted in its approach, from decarbonisation by no less than 7% a year to holdings reaching Transition Pathway Initiative level 4 or above. But
he also emphasised that limits to data should never become a reason not to act. “Our current policy has five thematic prongs. It’s important to assess your
progress along the journey – thus our Climate Stocktake,” he said. “Science, disclosure levels, ambitions have all changed since we first wrote our Climate
Change Policy – progress relies on regularly harnessing these changes to accelerate our progress.”
 
The local RI commitment of client and pool alike was particularly demonstrated in the biggest announcement of the quarter: the launch of the Cornwall
Local Impact portfolio. The new portfolio is divided between a 55% allocation to affordable housing in Cornwall, and a 45% allocation split between a UK
renewables fund and a Cornwall renewables fund – the latter is called ‘Greencoat Cornwall Gardens’.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 3 of 56

P
age 15



Executive Summary

High Level Performance of Pension Fund
 
• The fund delivered absolute performance of -7.3% over the quarter in GBP terms.  This was 1.2% behind
the benchmark return of -6.1%.
• Total fund return for the 12 months to end-June 2022 was -3.6%, which was 3.4% behind a benchmark
return of -0.2%.

Total
(GBPm)

31 Mar 2022 3,694

30 Jun 2022 3,421

Net cash inflow (outflow) -1

Total Fund Valuation

Assets Transitioned to Brunel

GBP 2,270m GBP 2,101m

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 4 of 56

P
age 16



Market Summary – Listed Markets

  

  The second quarter of 2022 saw a continuation of widespread negative sentiment towards risk assets,
albeit in smaller magnitude than during the prior quarter. The primary drivers were multi-decade inflation
highs, fears of a global recession and continuing geopolitical tensions.
 
Monetary tightening by central banks has now become commonplace worldwide, with more than 60
central banks increasing interest rates this year to combat runaway inflation. In the US, the Federal
Reserve (Fed) used its June meeting to increase interest rates by 75 basis points – the largest single rate
hike since 1994 - bringing its policy rate range to 1.5-1.75%. The purpose of the large move was to
combat increasing year-on-year headline inflation, which stood at a high of +8.6% in the quarter. The UK
was no different, with the Bank of England raising rates twice in the quarter. The base rate is now 1.25%,
up from 0.75% at the end of March. Headline inflation in the UK touched 40-year highs of +9.1% at the
end of the quarter. The only notable exception to this tightening trend is China, which cut interest rates
by 10 basis points to 3.7% at the beginning of 2022. China has seen its economy improve over in recent
weeks, following the easing of some COVID restrictions, and a more accommodating stance from the
government on corporate regulations, particularly in the technology sector. Whilst this benefitted
domestic markets, it did little to stimulate sentiment in other emerging market economies.
 
Recession fears began to grip the world towards the end of the quarter. Several economists slashed
second quarter real GDP forecasts in the US to +2.4% after the Fed’s more aggressive stance towards
rate rises became apparent; forecasts had been close to +4% in January 2022. The situation in the US
was aggravated further by the release of a disappointing consumer spending report in June. However,
many market participants believe any US recession could be mild, given the low level of unemployment,
and lower sensitivity to the events in Ukraine. Europe finds itself in a much tougher position, with large
dependence on Russian energy adding to cost of living pressures across the continent. As a result, real
incomes are falling quickly and growth in the region’s export market is slowing. Consensus among
economists increasingly points to a mild recession in Europe in coming quarters.
 
Equity, credit, currency and commodity markets experienced significant mark-to-market volatility against
this backdrop of high inflation and slowing growth.
 
Global developed equities, proxied by MSCI World, fell by approximately 9% in GBP terms, with all but
two countries registering a negative return. Emerging Markets – proxied by MSCI Emerging Markets –
fared better; the index fell a modest -4% in GBP terms, although this was heavily skewed by China, which
appreciated by +12% in GBP terms, following the easing of some COVID restrictions. Almost all countries
in emerging markets posted negative returns over the quarter. In terms of styles, the higher interest rate

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 5 of 56

P
age 17



Market Summary – Listed Markets

environment proved supportive for Value stocks vs Growth counterparts - as had been the case in Q1
2022. Value stocks outperformed Growth by more than 8%. Unsurprisingly, the most successful style was
Low Volatility, which can outperform during equity drawdowns.
 
Credit experienced one of its worst periods in recent history. A perfect storm of rising rates – driven by
inflation and subsequent central bank actions – and widening credit spreads, sparked by growth and
recession fears, caused major falls in most bond prices. Government bond yields continued to rise across
the globe, particularly in the US, where the 2-year and 10-year yields rose to 2.93% & 2.98% respectively,
a rise of over +70 basis points in each case. Government securities and investment grade corporates –
proxied by two of the Bloomberg Global Aggregate indices – both fell approximately 9% in local terms in
Q2 2022. Large bond duration, a measure of interest rate sensitivity, was the main driver. Sub-investment
grade securities had a torrid period, with high yield corporates – proxied by the Bloomberg Global High
Yield Corporates Index – falling over 11% in local terms, after recession fears sparked significant spread
widening.
 
Many commodities finally ran out of steam, as recession worries began to trump the supply squeeze
following the invasion of Ukraine. Both precious and industrial metals suffered heavy losses in Q2 2022.
Notable examples included nickel and copper, which saw spot prices fall by 25% and 34% respectively
(in GBP terms). Oil was a notable exception to this trend, with the WTI benchmark rising over 14% in GBP
terms.
 
Recession concerns and tight monetary policy drove more investors to the US dollar, which is typical
during times of market stress. The DXY Index – a measure of US dollar strength relative to a basket of
foreign currencies – rose another 6.5% over the quarter, taking its year-to-date appreciation to over 9%.
This has become particularly prevalent vs the Japanese yen, which depreciated due to the Bank of
Japan’s continued stance on yield curve control. The US dollar appreciated approximately 11% vs the
yen in the second quarter alone.
 
Looking forward, there are still several key questions for investors to ponder. It is still very unclear how the
slowing growth and high inflation themes will play out or how much is priced into markets.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 6 of 56

P
age 18



Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

Overview
Equities and bonds struggled through Q2 as investors priced in further interest rate hikes and heightened
risks of recession. Inflation reached multi-decade highs across many major economies. The Bank of
England and the US Federal Reserve both raised rates, with guidance of more increases to come, with
even the European Central Bank signalling a first rate increase in July. Energy prices soared,
exacerbated by rising demand and supply constraints caused by the conflict in Ukraine.
 
The inflationary shock, low consumer confidence, and ongoing supply chain disruptions have led
economists to reduce their growth expectations for many countries.
 
Infrastructure
Preqin Q2 2022 report showed Infrastructure Funds raised $50bn in 14 funds in the quarter, second only to
the record $70bn raised in Q1.
 
Among them, Brookfield’s Global Transition Fund managed to close a record $15bn, double the initial
target size, and a sign of the increasing interest for the energy transition theme within infrastructure.
Brookfield’s fund is also significative in that, as opposed to other smaller Energy transition funds focusing
on new clean energy technologies, it aims to invest and transform “carbon-intensive industries”. Investors
commit to gain exposure to “dirty companies” such as coal fired Australia’s AGL Energy, with the
promise to decarbonise over time.
 
While the war in Ukraine has continued to reinforce the market interest in renewables, energy security
has gained prominence in the agenda, and the EU admitted both gas and nuclear in their “green
taxonomy”.
 
Inflation and inflation protected was another of the prevalent themes. While infrastructure remains
popular for its higher linkage to inflation, infrastructure players have noted that in a high inflation
scenario, returns may grow in nominal terms, but may need to be moderated in real terms to maintain
their “social license to operate” by not passing full inflation to final users (contract versus reality).
 
Private Equity
Following the record-breaking year in 2021, private equity activity slowed down in the first half of 2022.
Deal volume continued to decline in Q2 2022 compared to Q1 with the current uncertainty that clouds
the overall economic environment. Inflation, rising interest rates, and the effects of the war in Ukraine
continue to strain market activity. The US Fed’s hawkish stance to tackle inflation is further increasing the

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 7 of 56

P
age 19



Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

risk of recession, which ultimately led to both valuations and deal volume declining. In addition, it is
unlikely that companies will be able to pass on the full effect of rising costs, due to inflation, to the end
consumer and consequently generate lower earnings. Although exits and PE-backed IPOs remain low
relative to prior quarters, GPs are still expected to remain active and deploy capital as well as support
existing portfolio companies. Interest rate hikes and recession fears remain the key issues that the market
is monitoring and private equity firms are assessing the effects on deal activity and portfolio performance
in which certain sectors (e.g. consumer) will be impacted more. In addition, the Investment pace GPs
invested their funds is likely to slow down compared to 2021. The fund-raising market is strong, with major
mega-funds expected to continue to raise in 2022 (e.g Permira has just closed €16bn for its most recent
Flagship Buyout Fund). However, the fundraising period is expected to be longer to accommodate LPs.
In addition, GPs are indicating a shorter investment period to deploy capital. Asset valuations are likely
to be affected by rate hikes and investors are being cautious with Tech companies with limited cash and
are opting for more B2B and enterprise solution tech/software. PE firms have further increased their focus
on ESG and ways to embed it in their processes to drive value within their portfolio investments. In
addition, GPs are raising Impact-focused funds and this will be a key theme in the new investment cycle.
 
Overall, the private equity industry is experiencing the effects of the macro environment but is still in a
strong position to continue to perform and will capitalise on the adjustments in valuations to generate
returns.
 
Private Debt
Central banks turned more hawkish in the face of persistently high inflation. The Sterling Overnight Index
Average (SONIA), the overnight interest rate paid by banks in the UK, increased over the quarter from
0.7% to 1.2%. In the US, the Federal Reserve’s rate increases meant Secured Overnight Finance Rate
(SOFR), the overnight interest rate paid by banks in the US, increased over the quarter from 0.3% to 1.5%.
Corporate bond yields increased markedly over the quarter, a combination of increasing credit spreads
and increasing reference rates. Similarly, US high bond index spreads increased significantly over the
Quarter.
 
Given the expectation for economic headwinds (driven principally by inflation) managers are
anecdotally reporting a modest slow-down in deal activity by P.E sponsors as they adopt a ‘wait & see’
approach in light of an anticipated repricing of acquisition multiples. Given the sustained volume of dry
powder held by P.E. sponsors there is an expectation that deal flow should remain strong through 2022
(albeit with a compensatory uptick towards the end of the year).

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 8 of 56

P
age 20



Market Summary – Head of Private Markets

 
Direct lenders with a focus on senior loans have responded to the inflationary environment with a
heighted focus on what they perceive to be relatively defensive sectors. These managers are reporting
modest increases in their agreed spreads with borrowers (new loan origination at rates of c.6%+ in excess
of underlying reference rates). Overall senior direct lenders remain confident (but cautious) that the loan
books they have assembled should remain resilient however they continue to exercise discipline in both
their underwriting and monitoring of loans.
 
Property
Despite rising inflation and interest rates, unlisted property markets are yet to see a pricing impact.
Industrial leasing remained buoyant in Q2, particularly for purpose-built warehouses, with lettings often
agreed ahead of building completion. While transaction levels in Industrial and Logistics were below
those witnessed in 2021, they reflected firm pricing and yield compression, particularly in the regions.
Demand for offices remained steady with availability falling, resulting in positive performance. Retail
performance was led by Retail Warehouses and consumer spending held up in Q2, as customers
returned to the high street. With consumer confidence now at a record low, it is unlikely this recovery will
continue.
 
A large UK transaction took place in the Alternatives space, with the sale of Oxford Technology Park to a
Life Sciences REIT. Secondary markets were less active in Q2, with the approach of the summer months.
While most trading activity within UK core funds reflected investors lightening positions, discounts to NAV
pricing pre-end of June remained minimal for most balanced funds.
 
Global real estate markets started to adjust to the higher interest rate regime, with yields and cap rates
moving in line; an upward shift of 25-50bps has been common in core products. New government policy
in Europe, especially towards ESG-compatible assets, has had further impact on pricing. Despite
significant capital expenditure, these assets now produce visible rental premiums.
 
Activity remains strong, with high interest sustained in the industrial sector. Retail and hotels, already
repriced, have seen a slight bounce-back. Offices, meanwhile, remain popular in APAC and Europe, but
have recorded all-time low investment activity in North America.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 9 of 56

P
age 21



Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

COP26 - progress on key announcements
Key outcomes for the finance sector from COP26 included;
• Creation of the International Sustainability Standards Board (ISSB).  The ISSB standard on climate will
build on – but eventually supersede – the Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosure (TCFD)
• Glasgow Financial Alliance for Net Zero will continue its work
• UK Government reiterated its commitment to the UK hosting the first Net Zero financial system, and
announced the publication of climate transition plans would be mandatory
 
All three announcements have been followed by consultations on new draft standards or a new
approach. Brunel has been active in participating in webinars, workshops and direct drafting of
responses, including those being developed by the IIGCC, UNPRI and A4S.
 
Key messages include;
• Ensure standards provide sufficient detail on what is expected without becoming excessively
prescriptive. For companies, this means more on capital expenditure, corporate lobbying and the Just
Transition. 
•  Include disclosures on the impacts companies have on the wider economy, rather than just looking at
ESG issues as they affect individual companies’ enterprise value.
• Include or increase guidance relating to physical and adaptation risks
 
Paris Alignment – setting Net Zero targets
The Paris Aligned Investment Initiative (PAII) was established in May 2019 by the Institutional Investors
Group on Climate Change (IIGCC). 118 investors representing $34 trillion in assets engaged in the
development of the Net Zero Investment Framework (NZIF) through the Paris Aligned Investment
Initiative.  PAII has published additional modules or consultations to add to the NZIF on private equity,
infrastructure, derivatives, and hedge funds.
 
Initial target disclosures for both asset owners and asset managers have been published by the PAII
(June 2022 update) and the Net Zero Asset Managers Initiative (May 2022) respectively.
Paris Aligned Asset Owners: Initial Target Disclosures
(www.parisalignedinvestment.org/media/2022/07/PAAO-Disclosures-010722.pdf)
The Net Zero Asset Managers initiative report (www.netzeroassetmanagers.org/media/2022/07/NZAM-
Initial-Target-Disclosure-Report-May-2022.pdf)

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 10 of 56

P
age 22

http://www.parisalignedinvestment.org/media/2022/07/PAAO-Disclosures-010722.pdf
http://www.netzeroassetmanagers.org/media/2022/07/NZAM-Initial-Target-Disclosure-Report-May-2022.pdf
http://www.netzeroassetmanagers.org/media/2022/07/NZAM-Initial-Target-Disclosure-Report-May-2022.pdf


Responsible Investment & Stewardship Review

Social issues
Mental health: As part of a £5.8 trillion investor coalition led by CCLA Asset Management, Brunel wrote to
the chief executives of 100 of the UK’s listed companies urging them to make better mental health
disclosures. The letters asked companies to take “immediate and concerted steps” to develop and
implement effective management systems and processes on workplace mental health. Steps include
moves by the Board and senior management to promote mental health in the workplace and to publish
a commitment to workplace mental health in a policy statement, as well as the establishment of
governance and management processes to ensure the policy is implemented and monitored. For more
information on this investor coalition please see https://www.ccla.co.uk/mental-health
 
Real living wage: The Good Work Coalition (https://shareaction.org/investor-initiatives/good-work-
coalition) is a collaborative engagement initiative led by ShareAction. It currently has 39 members,
including LGIM, NEST, Aviva, Rathbone, Jupiter, Hermes, Newton and Brunel. Since 2020, the coalition has
been sending letters and meeting with companies to discuss the real living wage. In that time, the focus
has been on supermarkets but work has also been done on such companies as BP, Hargreaves
Lansdown and Royal Mail.
 
Nearly 10,000 employers have been accredited by the Living Wage Foundation, nearly half of whom
signed up since March 2020. Over half the companies in the FTSE 100 are accredited. Despite
improvements in other sectors, and ongoing engagement, no companies within the supermarket sector
are yet accredited.  The largest holding across the coalition was Sainsbury’s.  The coalition therefore
decided to escalate engagement by filing a shareholder resolution at Sainsbury’s.
 
Brunel has been involved in ongoing engagement with the supermarket following the filing of the living
wage shareholder resolution. This led to Sainsbury’s announcing an additional pay rise for their London
staff in April, which resulted in all directly employed staff earning the real living wage. An estimated
19,000 workers benefited as a result. Engagement continued to seek accreditation and coverage of
third-party contractors. However, Sainsbury’s was not supportive and so the resolution went to the AGM.
The resolution, the first of its kind in the UK, received 17% support.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 11 of 56

P
age 23

https://www.ccla.co.uk/mental-health
https://shareaction.org/investor-initiatives/good-work-coalition
https://shareaction.org/investor-initiatives/good-work-coalition


Summary of Pension Fund Performance

Period Fund Strategic BM Excess

3 Month -7.3% -6.1% -1.2%

Fiscal YTD -7.3% -6.1% -1.2%

1 Year -3.6% -0.2% -3.4%

3 Years 3.3% 4.1% -0.7%

5 Years 4.3% 5.0% -0.7%

10 Years 8.1% 8.2% -0.0%

Since Inception 8.2%

Performance of Fund Against Benchmark (Annualised Performance)

Key drivers of performance
 
Portfolio performance of note in the quarter:
 
• Global Sustainable Equities and Global High Alpha Equities both returned -10.3%, which was 1.9% and 1.3%, respectively, behind benchmark
• Diversifying Returns Fund trailed the cash +3% target by 3.9%, returning -3.0%
• UK Active Equities returned -5.6%, which was 1.1% behind benchmark

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 12 of 56

P
age 24



Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

Asset Allocation Split

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 13 of 56

P
age 25



Asset Allocation of Pension Fund

Allocation Against Strategic Benchmark

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 14 of 56

P
age 26



Legacy Manager Performance

Annualised Return Risk (Standard Deviation) Benchmark Return Benchmark Standard Deviation

Aberdeen Standard 13.9% 16.7% 2.4% 15.8%

CBRE 7.4% 8.1% 6.4% 5.5%

Harbourvest 35.0% 22.3% 2.4% 15.8%

Hermes 5.1% 7.4% 10.0% 0.1%

IFM 11.9% 9.3% 10.0% 0.1%

Insight -2.6% 17.1% -2.3% 16.9%

Royal London -1.3% 8.6% -3.2% 9.2%

Schroders 3.5% 24.6% 6.9% 24.4%

Wellington 9.4% 12.5% 8.7% 14.5%

Dorset County Pension Fund 3.3% 10.3% 4.1% 8.9%

Legacy Manager Performance – 3 Year

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 15 of 56

P
age 27



Brunel Portfolios Overview

Portfolio Benchmark AUM
(GBPm)

Perf.
3 Month

Excess
3 Month

Perf.
1 Year

Excess
1 Year

Perf.
3 Year

Excess
3 Year

Perf.
5 Year

Excess
5 Year

Perf.
SII*

Excess
SII*

Initial
Investment

Brunel Global High
Alpha Equity MSCI World TR Gross 241 -10.3% -1.3% -10.7% -8.6% 10.8% 1.8% 15 Nov 2019

Brunel Global
Sustainable Equities

MSCI AC World GBP
Index 316 -10.3% -1.9% -10.5% -6.8% -0.0% -4.4% 01 Dec 2020

Brunel UK Active Equity FTSE All Share ex
Investment Trusts 171 -5.6% -1.1% -2.6% -5.5% 0.4% -1.7% 2.9% -1.5% 21 Nov 2018

Brunel Emerging Market
Equity MSCI EM TR Gross 143 -4.9% -1.1% -19.5% -4.8% 0.6% -2.5% 09 Oct 2019

Brunel Smaller
Companies Equities

MSCI World Small
Cap 148 -12.3% -2.3% -15.5% -4.7% -7.0% -3.5% 03 Mar 2021

Brunel Diversifying
Returns Fund

SONIA +3%
Benchmark 236 -3.0% -3.9% -1.5% -4.7% 2.6% -0.6% 31 Jul 2020

Brunel Multi-Asset Credit SONIA + 4% 155 -8.6% -9.8% -10.1% -14.6% -9.2% -13.6% 01 Jun 2021

Passive Developed
Equities

FTSE World
Developed 94 -8.9% -0.0% -2.8% -0.1% 7.5% -0.1% 24 Jan 2020

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Tradeable NAV performance reflects NET performance. The following product pages reflect the portfolio’s NET performance

Where there are disparities between returns quoted above and returns provided for the same fund and period in the following pages, this is because the fund-specific pages reflect the
posttransition phase, important for monitoring the performance of selected managers, while those given above reflect the Clients’ actual experience from the point of initial investment, which
in some cases includes the shared impact of transition costs.

Performance based on tradeable NAV

*Since Initial Investment

Page 16 of 56

P
age 28



Brunel Portfolios Overview

Portfolio Benchmark AUM
(GBPm)

Perf.
3 Month

Excess
3 Month

Perf.
1 Year

Excess
1 Year

Perf.
3 Year

Excess
3 Year

Perf.
5 Year

Excess
5 Year

Perf.
SII*

Excess
SII*

Initial
Investment

Passive Developed
Equities (Hedged)

FTSE World
Developed Hedged 89 -14.3% -0.0% -11.5% -0.1% 5.5% -0.2% 31 Jan 2020

Passive UK Equities FTSE All Share 115 -5.0% 0.0% 1.8% 0.1% 2.5% 0.1% 1.9% 0.1% 11 Jul 2018

Passive Smart Beta SciBeta Multifactor
Composite 149 -4.8% 0.1% 3.0% 0.2% 7.3% -0.1% 7.8% -0.1% 25 Jul 2018

Passive Smart Beta
(Hedged)

SciBeta Multifactor
Hedged Composite 137 -10.4% -0.4% -6.3% -0.4% 5.9% -0.2% 5.7% -0.4% 25 Jul 2018

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Tradeable NAV performance reflects NET performance. The following product pages reflect the portfolio’s NET performance

Where there are disparities between returns quoted above and returns provided for the same fund and period in the following pages, this is because the fund-specific pages reflect the
posttransition phase, important for monitoring the performance of selected managers, while those given above reflect the Clients’ actual experience from the point of initial investment, which
in some cases includes the shared impact of transition costs.

Performance based on tradeable NAV

*Since Initial Investment

Page 17 of 56

P
age 29



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity

Description

Provide global equity market
exposure together with excess
returns from accessing leading
managers.

High conviction, concentrated
portfolios with strong style/factor
biases invested in a
unconstrained manner.

Managed liquidity. Less exposure
to more illiquid assets.

High absolute risk with moderate
to high relative risk, around 5-6%
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £3,578,953,404

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month -10.3% -9.0% -1.3%

 Fiscal YTD -10.3% -9.0% -1.3%

 1 Year -10.7% -2.1% -8.6%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 11.7% 9.9% 1.8%

Performance to Quarter End

Global developed equities (as proxied by the MSCI World index) fell significantly over the quarter, returning -9% in GBP terms. Concerns about rising inflation
continued. As central bank action to address inflation became more apparent, fears about the negative impact of rising interest rates on future economic
growth came to the fore.
 
Performance was weak across most sectors except for Energy. Some of the worst-performing sectors (Consumer Discretionary, Information Technology and
Communications Services) were impacted  by concerns about consumption, whilst those less harmed by rising fuel prices and slowing growth sufferd more
muted falls (e.g. Consumer Staples, Health and Utilities).  
 
Another theme was the somewhat indiscriminate nature of falls in company value. There were multiple examples where company valuations were hit
despite that company reporting robust operational performance, in line with expectations. An environment where company fundamentals are not the main
driver of equity market returns is challenging, given the fundamental approaches taken by the underlying managers on the portfolio.
 

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 18 of 56

P
age 30



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity

The portfolio returned -10.2% over the quarter, underperforming the benchmark by 1.2%.
• Sector attribution analysis showed sector allocation as the main driver of relative performance whilst the impact of stock selection was broadly neutral. In
a repeat of the previous quarter, the portfolio’s largest active sector positions both worked against the portfolio. Energy was the largest underweight in the
portfolio and was the best-performing sector, whilst Consumer Discretionary was the worst-performing sector and the largest sector overweight. Sector
positioning is a result of stock selection by managers and largely an outcome of the ESG integration and Growth/Quality styles tilt of the portfolio.
• Although more muted than the previous quarter’s extremes, it was no surprise that performance amongst the underlying managers again varied
considerably, grouped according to their investment style. Those managers with a value focus generated a small outperformance. Harris in particular
performed strongly in the first couple of months but then largely gave up those gains in June as recessionary fears rose. Both Growth managers
underperformed again. However, in a reversal of last quarter, Fiera outperformed as its focus on Quality proved to have defensive characteristics favoured
by the market.
 
Despite recent underperformance, from inception to quarter-end the portfolio had outperformed the benchmark by 2.3% per annum, in line with the
performance target.
 
During the quarter, a small change was made to the underlying manager allocations. The revised target allocation reflected a change in conviction levels
in managers, most notably an increase in conviction in RLAM. The change also reduced the size of the active tilt towards Growth and away from Value
within the the portfolio, whilst maintaining the majority of risk and positioning characteristics.
 
There were three client trades during the quarter resulting in a net inflow of c.£608m. These included two large subscriptions, which were used to align
underlying manager allocations to the new target allocations. This trading exercise was managed by Macquarie.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 19 of 56

P
age 31



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

MICROSOFT CORP 189,967,982

ALPHABET INC-CL A 124,357,961

AMAZON.COM INC 111,402,183

MASTERCARD INC - A 91,787,277

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INC 70,286,425

NESTLE SA-REG 68,303,548

TAIWAN SEMICONDUCTOR-SP ADR 57,927,283

MOODY'S CORP 55,384,843

ASML HOLDING NV 47,352,371

AUTOZONE INC 47,079,520

HDFC BANK LTD-ADR 45,094,426

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 44,192,919

RELIANCE STEEL & ALUMINUM 44,082,500

SCHWAB (CHARLES) CORP 43,639,058

PROGRESSIVE CORP 42,993,731

TJX COMPANIES INC 42,208,534

META PLATFORMS INC-CLASS A 39,982,944

NIKE INC -CL B 39,926,468

AUTOMATIC DATA PROCESSING 39,108,979

SUNCOR ENERGY INC 37,866,516

Top 20 Holdings Regional Exposure

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 20 of 56

P
age 32



Brunel Global High Alpha Equity – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 21 of 56

P
age 33



Brunel Global Sustainable Equities

Description

To provide exposure to global
sustainable equities markets,
including excess returns from
manager skill and ESG
considerations.
Actively managed, diversified by
sector and geography.
Consideration for a companies
Environmental & Social
sustainability.

Managed Liquidity.

High, representing an equity
portfolio.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £3,050,086,508

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month -10.3% -8.4% -1.9%

 Fiscal YTD -10.3% -8.4% -1.9%

 1 Year -10.5% -3.7% -6.8%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 2.5% 8.2% -5.7%

Performance to Quarter End

As we discussed in the listed markets commentary, the global economic backdrop can be characterised by rising inflation, recessionary fears and
 monetary tightening by the central banks. Increasing interest rates had a negative effect on market sentiment as the present value of future cash flows
were reduced due to the increasing discount rate. This has a disproportional effect on the Growth style relative to the Value style, as Growth companies
have a greater proportion of their cash flows in the future. There were also a number of fundamental factors to consider: the constraint on Oil and Gas
supplies continued through Q2. Whilst constraints were not as pronounced as during Q1, the sector nevertheless continued to see increasing profits and
investment momentum (+3% in Q2). In aggregate, the Sustainable Equities portfolio has a natural bias away from deep Value companies as well as an
underexposure to the Oil & Gas sectors.
 
Global equities (as proxied by the MSCI All Countries World Index) returned -8.4% this quarter. The Sustainable Equity fund returned -10.3%, underperforming
the benchmark by 1.9% (MSCI All Countries World Index).
 
• Much of the quarter’s underperformance (-1.1%) could be attributed to positions in the Health Care sector. If we think about the health care sector itself, it

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 22 of 56

P
age 34



Brunel Global Sustainable Equities

can be split into quite broad sub-categories. The pharmaceuticals sub sector (7% Q2 return) has traditionally been linked to defensive equity, but other sub
sectors include Life Sciences (-7%) and Health Care Equipment (-12%), which are more exposed to future development and research. Whilst the fund does
have a degree of exposure to some pharmaceutical companies, such as Eli Lily, it is underweight the larger names, such as Johnson & Johnson, and
underweight the sub-sector overall. The fund is, however, overweight those sectors that are more aligned to future sustainability, such as Life Sciences, which
incorporate innovative technology companies such as Illumina.
 
• If we split the attribution by country, the majority of the underperformance is due to the overweight positioning to the US, and notably the underweight
position in China, as noted in the listed markets commentary. China returned +12% over the quarter as Covid restrictions eased, while its central bank was
contrarian to the rest of world in lowering interest rates. The fund has greater exposure to Growth companies in the US, rather than Value companies. Using
dividend yield as a proxy for Value, the top Value quintile in the US returned 4.1% whilst the top Growth quintile returned -20.9%
 
• Two of the five managers outperformed the index over the quarter: Jupiter and Nordea. Nordea is a thematic manager that has an emphasis on solution-
based businesses and has greater exposure to sectors such as Utilities, which performed well. Jupiter is a risk-aware broad sustainable manager, which was
seeded in February 2022 and has provided relative defensiveness when measured against other sustainable managers. Mirova and RBC are also Broad
Sustainable managers. they narrowly underperformed the benchmark, returning 8.5% and 9.2% respectively. Ownership, however, is a high conviction
Growth manager ,and returned -16.6% over the quarter.
 
• In terms of positioning going forward, all managers integrate the quality of the business into their analysis, rather than just sustainability. The fund has
overweight exposure to low-leverage businesses, which have strong margins and have been able to demonstrate consistent and attractive return on equity
(ROE) historically. Over the longer term, these characteristics should theoretically offer some relative protection from increasing inflationary costs and
decreasing economic activity, as well as any costs associated with debt restructuring in a higher interest rate environment. A general trend in the first half of
2022 was that highly leveraged companies (high D/E) outperformed lower leveraged companies: -9% for the top leveraged decile vs vs -20% for the lowest
leveraged decile. The MSCI quality factor returned -10.5% over the quarter, a factor that the fund has positive exposure to.     
 
• The Sustainalytics and TruValue Labs scores for the fund remain superior to that of the MSCI ACWI benchmark and we continued to see a carbon intensity
and extractive exposure reduction in comparison to the benchmark.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 23 of 56

P
age 35



Brunel Global Sustainable Equities – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

MASTERCARD INC - A 83,688,403

MICROSOFT CORP 74,436,733

DANAHER CORP 59,326,572

ADYEN NV 58,597,461

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INC 54,692,668

INTUIT INC 52,903,344

ANSYS INC 52,172,965

MARKETAXESS HOLDINGS INC 50,326,554

EDWARDS LIFESCIENCES CORP 49,555,632

AIA GROUP LTD 48,398,354

TRADEWEB MARKETS INC-CLASS A 46,799,153

ALPHABET INC-CL A 45,857,455

SYNOPSYS INC 42,796,265

ROCHE HOLDING AG-GENUSSCHEIN 42,507,663

TAIWAN SEMICONDUCTOR-SP ADR 40,651,979

PEPSICO INC 40,261,021

RESMED INC 39,243,335

REPUBLIC SERVICES INC 38,506,975

ECOLAB INC 38,246,781

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES INC 38,167,940

Top 20 Holdings Regional Exposure

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 24 of 56

P
age 36



Brunel Global Sustainable Equities – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 25 of 56

P
age 37



Brunel UK Active Equity

Description

Provide exposure to UK Equities,
together with enhanced returns
from manager skill.

Skilled managers will create
opportunities to add long term
value through stock selection and
portfolio construction.

Managed level of liquidity. Less
exposure to more illiquid assets.

High absolute risk with moderate
relative risk, around 4% tracking
error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £1,304,080,671

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month -5.7% -4.6% -1.1%

 Fiscal YTD -5.7% -4.6% -1.1%

 1 Year -2.6% 2.9% -5.5%

 3 Years 0.4% 2.3% -1.8%

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 2.7% 4.3% -1.6%

Performance to Quarter End

The FTSE All-Share Index excluding Investment Trusts returned -4.6% over the quarter. UK equities outperformed developed global equities which, measured
by the MSCI World Index, returned -9.0%. This was in part due to the sector make-up of each market. The Technology and Consumer Discretionary sectors
were the weakest performing from a global perspective and each accounts for a larger proportion of the global market. However, the Energy sector, which
was a strong performer in the quarter, accounts for a larger portion of the UK index.  Smaller companies tended to suffer relative to larger companies over
the quarter, evidenced by the FTSE 250 Ex IT significantly underperforming the FTSE 100 Ex IT and FTSE All-Share Ex-IT, both of which have less of a small-cap
bias.
 
Over the quarter, the portfolio returned -5.6%, underperforming the index by 1.0%. Attribution analysis shows this was driven by stock selection effects, with
allocation effects having negligible net contributions to relative returns.
 
• The Health Care, Energy and Consumer Staples sectors were the only positive performers in absolute terms in Q2. The portfolio’s underweight allocation to
Energy and overweight allocation to Industrials contributed negatively, but this was offset by positive allocation effects from the Materials and Real Estate

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 26 of 56

P
age 38



Brunel UK Active Equity

sectors, where the portfolio is underweight; both sectors were poor performers over the quarter.
 
• For the second consecutive quarter, stock selection in the Financials sector made the largest negative contribution to relative performance. An
underweight to HSBC and overweights to St. James‘s Place and IntegraFin Holdings were particularly harmful. Stock selection in the Health Care sector was
another significant detractor.
 
• The portfolio’s tilt towards smaller companies made a negative contribution to relative performance.
 
At the manager level, Invesco outperformed the index by 2.1%, whilst Baillie Gifford underperformed by 6.1%.
• The Value and Momentum factors were the dominating drivers of performance for Invesco, while Quality was flat. Whilst not specifically targeted as a
factor, Volatility also provided some positive relative performance.
 
• Over the quarter, Baillie Gifford maintained its expected tilts towards Growth stocks and towards smaller companies - tilts that contributed to its
underperformance. A large overweight to the Industrials sector further detracted. The poor performance of Growth companies favoured by Baillie Gifford
over the quarter resulted in negative stock selection in every sector other than Consumer Discretionary and Real Estate.
 
From inception to end-Q2, the portfolio returned 2.9% on an annualised basis, while the benchmark returned 4.3% over the same period.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 27 of 56

P
age 39



Brunel UK Active Equity – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

ASTRAZENECA PLC 78,719,927

UNILEVER PLC 56,979,736

SHELL PLC 53,815,295

GSK PLC 46,747,467

DIAGEO PLC 43,239,281

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO PLC 41,251,525

BP PLC 39,448,717

RIO TINTO PLC 38,606,140

LEGAL & GENERAL GROUP PLC 35,166,465

BUNZL PLC 31,762,475

HSBC HOLDINGS PLC 31,484,549

RELX PLC 31,114,605

GLENCORE PLC 29,593,362

VODAFONE GROUP PLC 26,333,633

STANDARD CHARTERED PLC 24,282,025

ST JAMES'S PLACE PLC 21,077,006

IMPERIAL BRANDS PLC 19,980,668

BAILLIE GIFFORD BR SM-C-ACC 19,306,778

BARCLAYS PLC 19,022,205

LLOYDS BANKING GROUP PLC 17,507,006

Top 20 Holdings Regional Exposure

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 28 of 56

P
age 40



Brunel UK Active Equity – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 29 of 56

P
age 41



Brunel Emerging Market Equity

Description

Provide exposure to emerging
market equities, targeting excess
returns and enhanced risk control
from leading managers.

A geographically diverse
portfolio, typically expected to
achieve higher long-term growth
rates than developed economies.

Managed liquidity. Less exposure
to more illiquid assets

High absolute risk with moderate
to high relative risk, around 5%
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £1,071,259,885

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month -5.0% -3.9% -1.1%

 Fiscal YTD -5.0% -3.9% -1.1%

 1 Year -19.5% -14.7% -4.9%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception -0.4% 2.0% -2.4%

Performance to Quarter End

The equity markets over the quarter were dominated by rising inflation, tightening fiscal policy in a large number of global markets, the conflict in Ukraine,
and fears of a global recession. The MSCI World Index experienced its third-worst quarterly fall in a decade: 9% in GBP terms. The MSCI Emerging Markets
Index was relatively protected, falling by 3.9%. A significant contributor to this protection was China, which gained 12% over the quarter, while the MSCI
Emerging Markets ex China Index fell 11%. This was the first quarter since Q3 2020 where China outperformed the rest of the emerging markets, which was
attributable to the easing of lockdowns in China. While the easing of lockdowns benefitted domestic equities, the same effect was not apparent in other
emerging markets. However, the outlook for China is now tempered by Beijing‘s continuing intention to operate a zero-Covid strategy, and by the
continuing possibility that American Depositary Receipts may be delisted.
 
During the quarter, the US Federal Reserve enacted a 75-basis point rate rise, the highest for 28 years. Similar rate rises were seen in a number of emerging
markets, including Chile, Mexico and Poland, harming Growth and Technology stocks specifically, and investor sentiment in equities more broadly. This sell-
off of Technology stocks combined with geopolitical tensions across the Taiwan Strait to cause Taiwan’s leading index to fall 13%.
 

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 30 of 56

P
age 42



Brunel Emerging Market Equity

The ongoing conflict in Ukraine continued to put pressure on supply chains. Energy prices remained high as EU leaders moved to ban most Russian oil
imports, and prices of agricultural products were pushed higher. Due to fears of a recession, commodity-producing emerging market countries saw some
large falls over the quarter, with South Africa and Brazil falling 16% and 18% respectively.
 
Consequently, the two worst-performing sectors over the quarter were Information Technology and Materials, with each falling 14%. The only significant
outperforming sector was Consumer Discretionary, which gained 15%, primarily driven by domestic activity in China.
The fund returned -4.9% over the quarter, 107 basis points (bps) behind the benchmark. The largest driver of the fall was stock selection in the Consumer
Discretionary sector. While the fund had a small overweight to Consumer Discretionary, and positive absolute performance in the sector, underweight
positions in certain Chinese Consumer Discretionary stocks resulted in the fund lagging the benchmark in the sector. Another significant detractor was the
Information Technology sector, which was primarily driven by overweight positions in Taiwanese Information Technology stocks - these suffered particularly
large falls over the quarter.
 
The managers had quite similar experiences over the quarter, each of them underperforming the benchmark. Genesis underperformed by 61bps,
NinetyOne by 245bps and Wellington by 11bps.
 
• The largest contributor to Genesis underperformance was an overweight position in Brazilian Health Care stock Hapvida, which fell 55%. Holdings in
innovative and high-tech Chinese Healthcare stocks also experienced falls over the period.
 
• Approximately half of the underperformance of NinetyOne was driven by the Chinese Consumer Discretionary sector. These falls reflected a mixture of
allocation effects from an underweight to the sector as a whole, and some selection effect from holding stocks which failed to beat benchmark
performance. The next most significant detractors were overweight allocations to the India and Taiwanese Information Technology sectors and an
underweight to the relatively well-performing Chinese Information Technology sector.
 
• While, like the other managers, the Consumer Discretionary sector in China was a detractor, Wellington’s close-to-benchmark allocation and overweight
position in China Tourism Group Duty Free Corporation resulted in the overall effect of this theme being quite minor. For Wellington, the largest detractors
were the Taiwanese and Japanese Information Technology sectors, where Wellington was overweight at the sector level, and invested in particularly hard-
hit stocks such as ASPEED, TSMC, Parade Technologies and GlobalWafers.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 31 of 56

P
age 43



Brunel Emerging Market Equity – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

TAIWAN SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFAC 77,902,846

TENCENT HOLDINGS LTD 46,666,248

SAMSUNG ELECTRONICS CO LTD 30,870,106

AIA GROUP LTD 28,995,942

ALIBABA GROUP HOLDING LTD 21,836,689

NETEASE INC 15,782,595

BID CORP LTD 13,651,034

INFOSYS LTD-SP ADR 13,180,026

INNER MONGOLIA YILI INDUS-A 12,995,344

RELIANCE INDUSTRIES LTD 11,831,480

MEDIATEK INC 11,424,790

BANK CENTRAL ASIA TBK PT 11,065,493

MEITUAN-CLASS B 10,042,903

WULIANGYE YIBIN CO LTD-A 9,958,268

SAMSUNG ELECTRONICS-PREF 9,756,050

CHINA LONGYUAN POWER GROUP-H 9,714,830

CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK-H 9,688,760

WALMART DE MEXICO SAB DE CV 9,572,290

CONTEMPORARY AMPEREX TECHN-A 9,543,500

HDFC BANK LTD-ADR 9,019,117

Top 20 Holdings Regional Exposure

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 32 of 56

P
age 44



Brunel Emerging Market Equity – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 33 of 56

P
age 45



Brunel Smaller Companies Equities

Description

To provide exposure to global
small capitalisation company
equities together with excess
returns from manager skill.

Actively managed, diversified by
geography. Small capitalisation
companies will be as defined by
the relevant index provider.

Managed liquidity. Traditionally
lower than broader market.

High to very high absolute risk with
moderate to high relative risk,
around 5%.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £752,908,656

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month -12.3% -10.1% -2.3%

 Fiscal YTD -12.3% -10.1% -2.3%

 1 Year -15.6% -10.9% -4.7%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 5.5% 9.5% -4.0%

Performance to Quarter End

Inflation, interest rates and geopolitical risks dominated the market narrative at the beginning of the quarter but, as we progressed through May and into
June, this gave way to wider concerns around the durability of growth and the likelihood of recession. Confronted by these multiple interacting factors, the
Global Small Cap universe continued to exhibit heightened volatility, but the effects of style became more mixed. Growth continued to be punished during
the quarter to early May but, as the period progressed, sectors such as Energy and Materials began to underperform, whilst more defensive sectors such as
Utilities and Consumer Staples began to outperform. This left Materials as the worst performing sector over the period.
 
The Global Small Cap Equity Portfolio returned -12.2% over the quarter, underperforming the benchmark (MSCI World Small Cap Index) by 2.1%.
 
• Risk analytics indicate that high quality stocks remained those most susceptible to negative market forces at the beginning of the quarter. High quality
stocks were, however, more resilient through June, though the exposure to this factor in the portfolio was a negative contributor over the period as a whole.
 
• Attribution analysis indicates that a significant portion of negative performance can be attributed to sector allocation, with an overweight to the

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 34 of 56

P
age 46



Brunel Smaller Companies Equities

Technology sector and an underweight to Energy, Utilities and Consumer Staples providing a headwind to portfolio performance. These effects were
compounded by negative currency allocation, with an underweight to the US and a subsequent underexposure to the US dollar also hurting performance,
as the dollar strengthened from the sharp rise in US interest rate expectations.
 
In terms of individual managers, performance was once again mixed:
 
• Kempen returned -7.9% over the quarter in absolute terms, outperforming the benchmark by 2.2%. Whilst Kempen’s preference for quality placed it at a
disadvantage relative to some peers, its valuation focus was a significant benefit over the quarter when compared to the broader small cap peer group.
 Kempen’s selection in the Materials, Energy and Healthcare were significant positive contributors to performance.
 
• Montanaro had the most difficult quarter of all the managers, returning -15.2% in absolute terms, and so underperforming the benchmark by -5.1%.
Montanaro’s quality growth style continued to prove a headwind in the market environment. Montanaro was affected by allocation factors on a sector
basis, with an overweight to Technology and underweight to Consumer Staples detracting. Selection within Financials and Consumer Discretionary sectors
also detracted over the quarter.
 
• American Century achieved performance of -13.6% over the period, underperforming the benchmark by 3.5%. Selection in the Health Care, Real Estate
and Industrials sectors was the primary detractor from American Century’s performance, as its Growth style was out of favor with the market.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 35 of 56

P
age 47



Brunel Smaller Companies Equities – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

ASR NEDERLAND NV 10,066,165

WINTRUST FINANCIAL CORP 9,985,359

FUJITEC CO LTD 9,335,503

ICON PLC 8,916,091

CSW INDUSTRIALS INC 8,025,094

SOLAREDGE TECHNOLOGIES INC 7,862,891

FORTNOX AB 7,798,569

BRUNSWICK CORP 7,715,599

HASEKO CORP 7,389,648

JABIL INC 7,283,586

DENA CO LTD 7,238,528

PRO MEDICUS LTD 7,220,990

FIRST SOLAR INC 7,051,619

SOFTWARE AG 6,985,326

MUELLER WATER PRODUCTS INC-A 6,934,857

THERMON GROUP HOLDINGS INC 6,636,599

STRATEGIC EDUCATION INC 6,596,404

HOULIHAN LOKEY INC 6,480,744

PAYLOCITY HOLDING CORP 6,442,025

ULVAC INC 6,418,650

Top 20 Holdings Regional Exposure

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 36 of 56

P
age 48



Brunel Smaller Companies Equities – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 37 of 56

P
age 49



Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund

Description

Provide exposure to a range of
alternative return drivers and a
degree of downside protection
from equity risk.

Actively managed to achieve
growth at moderate absolute risk,
diversified between asset classes
and by geography.

Managed Liquidity.

Moderate absolute risk against
cash.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £1,712,586,713

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month -3.0% 0.9% -3.9%

 Fiscal YTD -3.0% 0.9% -3.9%

 1 Year -1.5% 3.4% -4.9%

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 2.6% 3.3% -0.7%

Performance to Quarter End

The Diversifying Returns Fund returned -3.0% over the second quarter of 2022. The benchmark return was 0.9%. The portfolio returned -1.5% for the year
ending 30 June 2022, underperforming the benchmark, which returned 3.4%. The fund has fared better than a sterling-hedged 50/50 equity/bond index,
which returned -11.3% over the quarter and -14.7% over the year.
 
During the quarter, the portfolio was restructured to remove the allocation to William Blair, who closed the fund held in the DRF portfolio.
 
• JPM returned 4.9% for the quarter. The largest positive contributions to return again came from the equity Value and fixed income trend signals. Equity
trend, Quality and relative Value Momentum signals also delivered positive performance. Fixed income carry and credit carry were the biggest detractors
from performance.
 
• Lombard Odier was down 3.3% over the quarter. All beta exposures performed negatively but carry and trend signals made a positive contribution to
returns. The largest negative contributions to return came from sovereign bonds and developed market equities.  

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 38 of 56

P
age 50



Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund

 
• UBS returned -13.7% in Q2. The largest contributor to negative performance was the short position in USD, as the Federal Reserve indicated a willingness to
aggressively raise interest rates. The long JPY position also made a large negative contribution, with Japanese inflation lagging the US & Europe, and the
Japanese central bank re-iterating its intention to maintain accommodative monetary policy. The largest positive contribution to returns came from a short
position in NZD, while long Latam exposures were mixed. COP, MXN and BRL appreciated but CLP fell in value.
 
• William Blair recorded a return of -5.3% for the second quarter though it should be noted that, as the fund was closed prior to the end of the quarter, this
did not represent a full quarter’s performance. The negative performance of equities and fixed income both detracted from William Blair’s returns.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 39 of 56

P
age 51



Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

LO FUNDS ALL ROADS LO FDS ALL ROADS X1SHGBPIA 865,967,833

JPM DIVERSIFIED RISK -X GBP 558,800,664

UBS CURR ALLO RET STR-GBPUBA 287,350,357

Top 20 Holdings

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 40 of 56

P
age 52



Brunel Multi-Asset Credit

Description

To gain exposure to a diversified
portfolio of enhanced credit
opportunities with modest
exposure to interest rate risk.

Exposure to specialised, higher
yielding bond sectors which
provide diversified credit driven
returns.

Managed liquidity

Moderate absolute and relative
risk with high relative risk vs cash.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £2,352,940,113

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month -8.6% 1.2% -9.8%

 Fiscal YTD -8.6% 1.2% -9.8%

 1 Year

 3 Years

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception -10.1% 4.3% -14.5%

Performance to Quarter End

The portfolio returned -8.59% on a net-of-fees basis, whereas the SONIA +4% primary benchmark returned +1.2%. The outcome was to be expected, given
the inhospitable environment for credit prices. The secondary benchmark, a 50-50 split of the Bloomberg Global High Yield and S&P/LSTA US Leveraged Loan
100 indices, returned -8.23% over the same period, close to the portfolio return.
 
Credit registered one its worst quarterly returns in recent years. A perfect storm of rising interest rates and increased recession risk caused yields and spreads
to rise simultaneously, impacting the entire credit spectrum. No areas within credit were immune from these movements, resulting in widespread falls in bond
prices. Rising interest rates were a direct consequence of central bank activity across the globe.
 
US yields had another volatile quarter, ultimately rising once again because of runaway inflation and subsequent central bank tightening. The US 10-year
benchmark bond ended the period at 2.98%, an increase of 66 basis points. This was as high as 3.4% in June; however, yields quickly pulled back as investors
became concerned about a global recession. The curve remained very flat over the quarter, with 2-year, 5-year and 10-year yields trading in close
proximity. The curve remains partially inverted, with the 5-year yielding slightly more than the 10-year. The 10-2 Year Treasury Yield Spread  ended the period

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 41 of 56

P
age 53



Brunel Multi-Asset Credit

at zero, having widened to over 40 basis points during the quarter. The United Kingdom also saw large increases in government yields, with the 10-year
benchmark bond rising to 2.31% at the end of the quarter, significantly higher than the March 2022 yield of 1.63%. The UK yield curve is not as flat as the US,
with the 10-2 Year Treasury Yield Spread at 39 basis points at quarter-end, an increase of 12 basis points over the period.
 
Spreads widened in every asset class over the quarter, as a direct result of slowing growth and recession fears. High yield corporate spreads – proxied by
Bloomberg Global High Yield Index – almost doubled to 618 basis points (from 374 basis points). Hard currency emerging market corporates, proxied by
Bloomberg EM USD Corporates, rose by almost 100 basis points to 462 basis points at quarter-end.
 
Floating rate assets were once again the best place to be from an asset class perspective within sub-investment grade credit. The lower duration element
protected investors from rate-driven capital losses. Bank loans, a floating rate asset approximated by the S&P/LSTA US Leveraged Loan 100 Index, fell by
5.43% in GBP hedged terms. The asset class still fell due to recession fears, which caused spreads to rise. Whilst disappointing, this was comfortably ahead of
fixed rate assets like high yield bonds. The Bloomberg Global High Yield Index fell over 11% in GBP-hedged terms over the same period. Specialist asset
classes such as convertible bonds and contingent capital fell in line with fixed rate credits and offered limited return protection given the environment. The
Thomson Reuters Global Convertible Index fell 12% in local terms, whilst ICE BoA Contingent Capital fell almost 9% over the same period.
 
Results were once again mixed at manager level. Neuberger Berman - which represents 60% of the portfolio – fell by 9.2%, driven by a higher weighting to
fixed rate bonds, which was over 60% heading into Q2 2022. Oaktree and CQS –each representing  20% of the portfolio - performed relatively better, both
returning -7.8%. The primary driver for the better performance across these managers was twofold – (1) No exposure to investment grade bonds, which fell
significantly due to higher duration, and (2) Much lower fixed rate exposures - less than 40% for both.
 
Since-inception portfolio return is now -10.2% on a net-of-fees basis, which is behind the primary benchmark return of +4.3% over the same period. Whilst
disappointing in absolute terms, the portfolio remained ahead of the secondary credit-focussed benchmark comprised of loans and high yield. The
secondary benchmark returned -10.5% from portfolio launch to quarter-end, 35 basis points behind the portfolio.
 
Managers have been increasing the level of quality in their portfolios, given that defaults are expected to rise in a recession environment. Managers feel
cautiously optimistic about prospects, as they believe current portfolio yields – almost 10% on a yield-to-worst basis with a duration of around 2 years – more
than compensate investors for default risk. However, managers remain cautious in the near term and expect more mark-to-market volatility, given the
unknowns surrounding global growth and inflation in the months to come.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 42 of 56

P
age 54



Brunel Multi-Asset Credit – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

NEUBERGER BERMAN BRUNEL MULTI NEUER BEN BREL MU
AD I2AGBPA 1,480,711,399

CQS GLOBAL FUNDS MUTUAL FUND 502,087,221

OAKTREE (LUX) III SA SICAV MUTUAL FUND 497,052,233

Top 20 Holdings

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 43 of 56

P
age 55



Passive Developed Equities

Description

Provide exposure to FTSE
Developed World using a low cost
highly liquid approach.

Geographically diversified range
of equities.

High

High absolute risk with very low
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £844,989,728

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month -8.9% -8.9% 0.0%

 Fiscal YTD -8.9% -8.9% 0.0%

 1 Year -2.8% -2.7% 0.0%

 3 Years 9.0% 9.0% 0.0%

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 8.5% 8.5% 0.0%

Performance to Quarter End

• Passive Developed Equities returned -8.9% in the second quarter of 2022 and -2.8% over the year to end-Q2. The fund closely replicated the FTSE
Developed World Index.
 
• The unhedged fund outperformed the hedged product, which returned -14.3% over the quarter, as GBP decreased in value relative to several other
currencies, notably the US dollar.
 
• The Consumer Staples and Energy sectors were the best performing over the quarter while the Technology sector, which accounts for the largest portion
of the index, made the biggest negative contribution to returns.
 
• The worst performing developed markets region was North America. Japan was the best performing region but still recorded negative returns.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 44 of 56

P
age 56



Passive Developed Equities (Hedged)

Description

Provide exposure to FTSE
Developed World using a low cost
highly liquid approach.

Geographically diversified range
of equities.

High

High absolute risk with very low
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £619,739,997

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month -14.3% -14.3% 0.0%

 Fiscal YTD -14.3% -14.3% 0.0%

 1 Year -11.5% -11.4% -0.1%

 3 Years 7.4% 7.5% -0.1%

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 6.2% 6.3% -0.1%

Performance to Quarter End

• Passive Developed Equities returned -8.9% in the second quarter of 2022 and -2.8% over the year to end-Q2. The fund closely replicated the FTSE
Developed World Index.
 
• The unhedged fund outperformed the hedged product, which returned -14.3% over the quarter, as GBP decreased in value relative to several other
currencies, notably the US dollar.
 
• The Consumer Staples and Energy sectors were the best performing over the quarter while the Technology sector, which accounts for the largest portion
of the index, made the biggest negative contribution to returns.
 
• The worst performing developed markets region was North America. Japan was the best performing region but still recorded negative returns.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 45 of 56

P
age 57



Passive Developed Equities – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

APPLE INC 58,415,003

MICROSOFT CORP 53,777,805

AMAZON.COM INC 26,378,266

ALPHABET INC-CL A 18,231,250

ALPHABET INC-CL C 16,828,903

TESLA INC 15,953,737

UNITEDHEALTH GROUP INC 13,415,536

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 13,048,008

META PLATFORMS INC-CLASS A 10,290,531

NVIDIA CORP 10,238,904

EXXON MOBIL CORP 9,967,016

BERKSHIRE HATHAWAY INC-CL B 9,603,764

PROCTER & GAMBLE CO/THE 9,594,893

JPMORGAN CHASE & CO 9,160,495

VISA INC-CLASS A SHARES 9,070,966

NESTLE SA-REG 8,889,395

PFIZER INC 8,272,761

CHEVRON CORP 7,934,426

HOME DEPOT INC 7,916,764

ELI LILLY & CO 7,632,852

Top 20 Holdings Regional Exposure

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 46 of 56

P
age 58



Passive Developed Equities – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 47 of 56

P
age 59



Passive UK Equities

Description

Provide exposure to FTSE All Share
using a low cost highly liquid
approach.

Invest passively in securities
underlying the FTSE All Share.
Provide long term growth

High

High absolute risk with very low
tracking error.

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £115,370,595

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month -5.0% -5.0% 0.0%

 Fiscal YTD -5.0% -5.0% 0.0%

 1 Year 1.8% 1.6% 0.1%

 3 Years 2.5% 2.4% 0.1%

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 1.9% 1.8% 0.1%

Performance to Quarter End

• Passive UK Equities returned -5.0% and 1.8% over a one-year period to end-Q2. The fund performed in line with the FTSE All-Share Index.
 
• The UK market outperformed the FTSE Developed World Index, which returned -8.9% over the quarter. A large part of the performance differential could
be attributed to the FTSE All-Share Index having lower weights in the Technology and Consumer Discretionary sectors, which were the weakest performing
sectors in the global market.
 
• The largest contributions to returns for the Passive UK Equities portfolio came from the Health Care and Consumer Staples sectors, which are traditionally
more resilient in the face of economic contraction.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 48 of 56

P
age 60



Passive UK Equities – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

ASTRAZENECA PLC 8,355,471

SHELL PLC 8,012,756

HSBC HOLDINGS PLC 5,403,558

UNILEVER PLC 4,723,092

GSK PLC 4,418,324

BRITISH AMERICAN TOBACCO PLC 3,984,033

DIAGEO PLC 3,980,447

BP PLC 3,709,838

GLENCORE PLC 2,907,940

RIO TINTO PLC 2,671,167

RELX PLC 2,062,916

RECKITT BENCKISER GROUP PLC 1,958,093

NATIONAL GRID PLC 1,914,868

VODAFONE GROUP PLC 1,786,872

ANGLO AMERICAN PLC 1,769,843

COMPASS GROUP PLC 1,496,172

LLOYDS BANKING GROUP PLC 1,469,677

LONDON STOCK EXCHANGE GROUP 1,395,192

PRUDENTIAL PLC 1,393,730

BAE SYSTEMS PLC 1,307,836

Top 20 Holdings Regional Exposure

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 49 of 56

P
age 61



Passive UK Equities – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 50 of 56

P
age 62



Passive Smart Beta

Description

Exposure to equity markets and a
combination of smart beta factors
to outperform market cap indices.

Invest passively in equities via
alternative indices.

High

Absolute: High Relative: V.Low

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £148,523,611

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month -4.8% -4.9% 0.1%

 Fiscal YTD -4.8% -4.9% 0.1%

 1 Year 3.0% 2.8% 0.2%

 3 Years 7.3% 7.4% -0.1%

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 7.8% 7.9% -0.1%

Performance to Quarter End

• In the second quarter of 2022, Passive Smart Beta Equities returned -4.8%, outperforming the MSCI World Index, which returned -9.0%.

• The fund tracked the Scientific Beta Index in line with expectations.

• The unhedged fund outperformed the hedged version, which returned -10.4% over the quarter, as pound sterling decreased in value relative to several
other currencies, particularly the US dollar.

• All factors targeted by the strategy made a positive contribution to returns relative to the market capitalisation index.

• Positive stock selection in the Consumer Discretionary sector made the largest positive contribution to relative returns against the market cap index. A
large underweight to the Technology sector also contributed positively.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 51 of 56

P
age 63



Passive Smart Beta (Hedged)

Description

Exposure to equity markets and a
combination of smart beta factors
to outperform market cap indices.

Invest passively in equities via
alternative indices.

High

Absolute: High Relative: V.Low

Overview

 Portfolio
 Objective:

 Liquidity:

Investment
Strategy & Key
Drivers:

Risk/Volatility:

Total Fund
Value: £137,181,072

Ann. Performance Fund BM Excess

 3 Month -10.4% -10.0% -0.4%

 Fiscal YTD -10.4% -10.0% -0.4%

 1 Year -6.3% -6.0% -0.4%

 3 Years 5.9% 6.1% -0.2%

 5 Years

 10 Years

 Since Inception 5.7% 6.1% -0.4%

Performance to Quarter End

• In the second quarter of 2022, Passive Smart Beta Equities returned -4.8%, outperforming the MSCI World Index, which returned -9.0%.

• The fund tracked the Scientific Beta Index in line with expectations.

• The unhedged fund outperformed the hedged version, which returned -10.4% over the quarter, as pound sterling decreased in value relative to several
other currencies, particularly the US dollar.

• All factors targeted by the strategy made a positive contribution to returns relative to the market capitalisation index.

• Positive stock selection in the Consumer Discretionary sector made the largest positive contribution to relative returns against the market cap index. A
large underweight to the Technology sector also contributed positively.

* Partial returns shown in first quarter

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 52 of 56

P
age 64



Passive Smart Beta – Region & Sector Exposure

Mkt. Val.(GBP)

JOHNSON & JOHNSON 2,141,723

BRISTOL-MYERS SQUIBB CO 1,927,443

VERIZON COMMUNICATIONS INC 1,720,799

WALMART INC 1,693,578

CISCO SYSTEMS INC 1,636,104

ALLSTATE CORP 1,636,009

PFIZER INC 1,634,167

COGNIZANT TECH SOLUTIONS-A 1,632,953

COMCAST CORP-CLASS A 1,606,995

SOUTHERN CO/THE 1,584,310

DUKE ENERGY CORP 1,580,803

AT&T INC 1,539,823

T-MOBILE US INC 1,513,391

SYNOPSYS INC 1,510,287

COLGATE-PALMOLIVE CO 1,498,358

MERCK & CO. INC. 1,491,723

GILEAD SCIENCES INC 1,489,061

CONSOLIDATED EDISON INC 1,474,349

CUMMINS INC 1,473,592

COSTCO WHOLESALE CORP 1,456,234

Top 20 Holdings Regional Exposure

Sector Exposure

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 53 of 56

P
age 65



Passive Smart Beta – Responsible Investment

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 54 of 56

P
age 66



Disclaimer

This material is for information only and for the sole use of the recipient, it is not to be reproduced, copied or shared. The report was prepared
utilising agreed scenarios, assumptions and formats.

Brunel accepts no liability for loss arising for the use of this material and any opinions expressed are current (at time of publication) only. This
report is not meant as a guide to investing or as a source of specific investment recommendations and does not constitute investment research.

Certain information included in this report may have been sourced from third parties. While Brunel believes that such third party information is
reliable, Brunel does not guarantee its accuracy, timeliness or completeness and it is subject to change without notice.

Nothing in this report should be interpreted to state or imply that past performance is an indicator of future performance. References to
benchmark or indices are provided for information only and do not imply that your portfolio will achieve similar results.

Brunel provides products and services to professional, institutional investors and its services are not directed at, or open to, retail clients.

Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority No. 790168.

The Industry Classification Benchmark is a joint product of FTSE International Limited and Dow Jones & Company, Inc. and has been licensed for
use.‘FTSE’ is a trade and service mark of London Stock Exchange and The Financial Times Limited. “Dow Jones” and “DJ” are trade and service
marks of Dow Jones & Company Inc. FTSE and Dow Jones do not accept any liability to any person for any loss or damage arising out of any error
or omission in the ICB.

The Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS®) was developed by and is the exclusive property of Morgan Stanley Capital International Inc.
and Standard & Poor’s. GICS is a service mark of MSCI and S&P and has been licensed for use by State Street Bank and Trust Company.

Forging better futures
Brunel Portfolios Performance Report for Quarter Ending 30 June 2022

Dorset County Pension Fund

Information Classification: Public

Page 55 of 56

P
age 67



Information Classification: Public Page 56 of 56

P
age 68



  

Dorset Council 
Quarterly Report  
Steve Tyson, Independent Investment Adviser 
SEPTEMBER 2022 

Page 69

Agenda Item 9



Quarterly Report | Q3 

 2022 | 2 

QUARTERLY REPORT 

• Q2 was tough for most investors. Global markets continued to face the challenges of the ongoing 
war in Ukraine, lockdowns in China, continued supply chain disruptions, rising inflation, slowing 
economic growth and accelerated interest rate hikes. Inflation moved higher, with both equities 
and fixed income markets under pressure with the increased risk of recession. Global equity 
markets significantly declined, falling -16.1% over the quarter. US equities suffered the most (-
16.1%); followed by Emerging Markets and European equities (-11.4% and -9.4% respectively); 
and UK equities registered slightly negative return (-3.8%). Value-oriented stocks experienced a 
smaller decline than growth stocks (-12.2% for the MSCI World Value Index vs -21.4% for the 
MSCI World Growth Index). Corporate and government bond indices also sharply declined (for 
the UK indices, both by -7.4%). Real assets such as commodities and real estate continued the 
volatility experienced last quarter, and the US dollar strengthened against most currencies, 
benefiting from broad risk aversion.  

• GDP growth: Despite the ongoing recovery of the UK economy from the pandemic, the impact 
of the Russia/Ukraine war is expected to slow growth in the UK alongside other advanced 
economies. The UK is expected to hit an inflation peak in double digits %. The war is expected 
to hinder growth through higher commodity prices and supply chain disruption. The US is forecast 
to post a GDP growth rate of 2.4% for 2022, following a 1.6% slump in Q1. China’s growth has 
been disrupted by another COVID-19 wave. 
  

It is worth highlighting the following themes, impacting investment markets:  
 

o Inflation – becoming entrenched? : For the first half of this year, surging energy prices from 
the Russia-Ukraine war and global supply-chain disruptions from China's zero-tolerance 
COVID-19 lockdowns have pushed inflation even higher. In the US, inflation is marking a 
new 40-year high, while the BoE has forecast UK inflation may peak at c.11% October. It 
may peak higher than that. With labour markets remaining remarkably tight, average earnings 
are starting to rise faster, and industrial action is increasingly common. Together with the 
likelihood of further energy price rises this winter, it seems likely that inflation will not fall 
back to Central Banks’ targets. 

o Tighter monetary policy: Monetary policies continued to tighten to tame inflation: the Fed 
is expected to continue reducing its balance sheet and hiking rates through 2023. The BoE 
also increased interest rates for a sixth successive time to 1.75%, and the ECB raised interest 
rates in July. Increasing rates will put a severe strain on many Government finances, and may 
constrain central banks’ policy choices. In the UK the BoE may be challenged regarding its 
independence, with consequences for Sterling. Some of this is undoubtedly political rhetoric. 

o Rising fears of recession : The bond market flashed recession warning lights as the yield 
curve between the 10-year Treasury yield and the 2-year yield has become inverted again 
during the quarter. 

• Global equities fell sharply in Q2. All tracked indexes suffered significant declines. In addition 
to the continued Ukraine war, the impacts from slowing economic growth, tightening monetary 
policy, rising interest rates, and high inflation have all significantly hit the market.  
o US equities, measured by the S&P 500, fell sharply over the quarter by -16.1% and the 

NASDAQ fell by 22.4% QoQ in response to the more aggressive path of interest rate hikes, 
with the Fed raising rates by 0.5% in May and 0.75% in June, in an effort to slow inflation, 

Page 70



Quarterly Report | Q3 

 2022 | 3 

and reached the target range between 1.50% and 1.75%. This is the greatest rate increase since 
1994.  Consumer discretionary slumped -26.3% QoQ due to rising consumer concerns over 
the effect of inflation on households. All sectors experienced declines, although consumer 
staples and utilities were comparatively resilient. July in contrast saw the strongest single 
monthly rise in the S&P 500 for a long time, however, since then it has fallen back. Simply, 
volatility is the order of the day. 

o UK equities continued to be impacted by the war in Ukraine, and the BoE raising rates. The 
FTSE 100 (-3.8%) and FTSE All-Share (-5.1%) fell over the quarter. Large-cap companies 
held up relatively well as traditionally defensive areas of the market outperformed, including 
the telecoms, healthcare and consumer staples sectors. Small and mid-caps (SMIDs) suffered 
significant valuation declines as the growth companies in general have suffered against the 
backdrop of rising rates. 

o Elsewhere, the Euro Stoxx 50 declined by 9.4% over the quarter, Japanese equities registered 
a decline of 5.0% from the end of March. Emerging market (EM) equities aligned with the 
global equities markets and delivered a negative 11.4% over the quarter, with US dollar 
strength a key headwind. 

• Global bonds continued to sell off sharply in Q2 sending yields higher amid elevated inflation 
and rising interest rates. Global bonds rallied into quarter-end amid rising growth concerns, 
slightly curtailing the negative returns. Within corporate bonds, high-yield credit was hardest hit, 
with mounting concerns over the economic outlook. Emerging market bonds also suffered similar 
declines.  
o The US 10-year bond yield rose from 2.35% to 2.98% and the 2-year yield from 2.33% to 

2.93%. Treasuries provided a total Q2 return of -3.8%. The unemployment rate also edged 
down, bolstering the case for the Fed to speed up the tightening of monetary policy in the 
fight against inflation. The Michigan Consumer Sentiment index declined to 50.0 in June, a 
record low in its 70-year history, going back to 1952. 

o The UK 10-year Gilt yield increased from 1.61% to 2.23% and 2-year yield rose from 1.36% 
to 1.88%. Real rates have been rising significantly and perhaps surprisingly, inflation 
expectations as measured by breakeven inflation – the difference between yields on nominal 
and index-linked gilts has actually been moving only sideways since February. In other 
words, the market price on inflation is not rising whilst the headline inflation rate soars. How 
can one explain this? I believe it is partly because the markets expect recession and partly 
because the index-linked market is dominated by pension funds who have been selling. 

• Energy prices fluctuated in Q2 2022, with the continuation of the Russia-Ukraine conflict putting 
further pressure on the rising prices from Q1. Increases in price occurred via tight supply 
reflecting uncertainties about further sanctions related to Russia’s invasion. Precious metals also 
surged, with investors seeking safe-haven assets – which saw gold prices rise. 

• Global listed property had a weak quarter, with the FTSE EPRA Nareit Global Index declining -
9.8% in Q2. There is a lag in terms of the effect on direct property, which has to go through a 
quarterly valuation process before it catches up. 

• In Q2, sterling weakened sharply against the euro (-2.0%) and against the US dollar (-7.3%) as 
recession fears, rising living costs, public sector strikes, and inflation uncertainty all undermined 
confidence in the UK’s economic outlook and the strength of its currency. Overall, the US dollar 
(Dollar index +6.5%) had a strong Q2, as investors preferred the US over Europe amid uncertainty 
among ECB policy makers growth outlook. Notably it also strengthened against the Japanese yen 
by 11.6%, again reflecting the divergence in policy between the Fed and the BoJ. Sterling’s 

Page 71



Quarterly Report | Q3 

 2022 | 4 

weakness is continuing during the period of the PM election campaign due to various 
pronouncements by Ms Truss which have unsettled markets. 

Performance and Strategy 

Performance of the pension fund is lagging benchmark and it has affected the long-term performance. 
Some of the negative performance is due to external legacy mandates, but mostly this relative 
comparison is attributable to the performance of the underlying Brunel equity funds which have a 
strong tilt to Responsible Investing. It is to be expected that during a period when energy prices shoot 
up that both the Brunel funds and consequently our pension fund have a period of underperformance. 
But what we have to scrutinise is whether the magnitude of the underperformance is reasonable in 
the context of the long term. This is a complex subject. Brunel have explained that it is not just about 
the energy sector, but more importantly their tilts towards growth and quality have suffered as the 
environment suddenly changed from February 2022. Whilst this is true, I have a residual concern that 
insufficient attention was being paid to value as a consideration when investing by Brunel and their 
underlying managers. 

I expect Brunel’s underlying fund performance to start to recover, in fact it has already begun. 
Whether the performance of the last year is ever fully recovered is an open question that we should 
monitor. ESG investing has come into question after a year of underperformance relative to traditional 
benchmarks and now there is starting to be a more intelligent debate about whether and how we can 
invest responsibly and achieve our climate aims without a consequent performance drag. This is not 
easily answered and we should continue to understand whether there is a trade-off between investing 
responsibly and performance. 

In the immediate future, the fund faces the challenge of economic recession and consequent market 
uncertainty. Societal strains will be great this winter as a consequence of the cost of living crisis, and 
it remains to be seen at what level CPI will peak. It will be in the teens, but whether it is in the low-
teens or the high-teens is very hard to predict. The risk of policy mistakes is great – either monetary 
policy mistakes by tightening too little or too much, or fiscal mistakes made by the incoming 
government. We are coming up to our triennial valuation results and investment strategy review. 
Whilst it is bad news that markets are declining, at least this has the effect of increasing the 
prospective rate of return from these lower levels! And we are in the fortunate position of taking a 
long-term perspective. 

 
Steve Tyson, Independent Investment Adviser 

September 2022

Page 72



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1 Frederick’s Place, London, EC2R 8AE, United Kingdom | +44 20 7079 1000 | investmentadvisory@mjhudson.com | mjhudson.com  
 

This document is directed only at the person(s) identified on the front cover of this document on the basis of our investment advisory agreement. No liability is admitted to 

any other user of this report and if you are not the named recipient you should not seek to rely upon it. We note that you have requested that our focus in these reports is 

on recent short-term performance notwithstanding that the FCA Rules would generally require us to place less emphasis on past performance and provide performance numbers 

over the longer term. 

This document is issued by MJ Hudson's Investment Advisory business. MJ Hudson's Investment Advisory business comprises the following companies: MJ Hudson Investment 

Advisers Limited (no. 4533331), MJ Hudson Investment Solutions Limited (no. 10796384), MJ Hudson Consulting Limited (no. 13052218) and MJ Hudson Trustee Services 

Limited (no. 12799619), which are limited companies registered in England & Wales. Registered Office: 1 Frederick’s Place, London, EC2R 8AE. MJ Hudson Investment 

Advisers Limited (FRN 539747) and MJ Hudson Investment Consulting Limited (FRN 541971) are Appointed Representatives of MJ Hudson Advisers Limited (FRN 692447) 

which is Authorised and Regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.  

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Pensions Fund Committee 

21 September 2022 

Pensions Administration 
 

For Review and Consultation  

Portfolio Holder:  Cllr G Suttle, Finance, Commercial & Capital Strategy  

 
Local Councillor(s): All 

Executive Director: A Dunn, Executive Director, Corporate Development  

     

Report Author:  Karen Gibson 
Title:   Service Manager for Pensions 

Tel:   01305 228524 
Email:   karen.gibson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Report Status:  Public 

 

Brief Summary: 

This report is the quarterly update for the Pension Fund Committee on all 

operational and administration matters relating to the Fund.  It contains updates 
on the following: 

 Key Performance Indicators  

 Annual Benefit Illustrations 2022 

 Pensions Dashboard Programme Update 

 McCloud Update 

 Data Quality Scores 

 Valuation Update 

 Overseas Existence Checks 

 Employer Update 

 2016 Cost Cap Valuation Report for the LGPS 

 SAB Annual Report 2021 

 HMT Consultation on Public Sector Exit Payments 

 

 
Recommendation: 

Page 75

Agenda Item 10



 
It is recommended that the Committee note and comment on the contents of the 

report.  

 
 
Reason for Recommendation:      

 

To update the Committee on aspects of Pensions Administration. 

 

 
1 Background 

1.1 This report is the quarterly update for the Pension Fund Committee on all 
operational and administration matters relating to the Fund. 

 

2 Key Performance Indicators  

2.1 The key performance indicators are attached at Appendix 1. These are 
for the period 1 May 2022 to 31 July 2022.  

 

3 Annual Benefit Illustrations 2022 for Active and Deferred Members 

3.1 I can confirm that 22,677 Annual Benefit Illustrations (ABIs), attached at 

Appendix 2, were issued on 15 August 2022, ahead of the statutory 
deadline to active members. 

3.2 An annual newsletter, see Appendix 3, containing essential updates and 

information for members, was issued with this statement.  
3.3 Statements to 20,677 deferred members were issued on 20 June 2022, 

attached at Appendix 4. In addition, 28 ABIs were issued to deferred 
councillor members. 

3.4 Despite the change in our main administrative system within the last 

year, this process was extremely successful, and the statements were 
well received by members. Some minor issues were identified that 

occurred as a direct result of the system change, this only impacted a 
few members and was not connected to member benefit calculations. 
These minor issues will be resolved for future statements.  

3.5 ABIs cannot be issued to members where a current address is not held. 
All scheme active and deferred members have the ABI data on the 

Member Portal. 
3.6 This is a particularly important statutory requirement for the Fund. It 

serves several purposes that benefit the Fund, members and employers. 

In the current financial climate, it provides valuable information to 
members who may feel some pressure to opt out of their pension 

scheme. Benefits include: 

 Awareness of scheme benefits to members 

Page 76

https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/


 A reminder of any death grant nominations made 

 A check of the pay data provided by the employer used to 

calculate pension accrual in the last year 

 A check that essential data requirements, such as address and 

marital status, are up to date and correct 

 A reminder of pensions tax impacts for high earners 

 The Fund’s data is up to date and correct, meeting requirements 
set out by the Pension’s Regulator, and contributing to the high 

quality of data held. 

 Highlight important changes to the LGPS and/or associated 
regulations, for example McCloud and possible changes to the 

Normal Pension Age. When new regulations come into effect, this 
is a disclosure requirement. 

 
4     Pensions Dashboard Programme  

4.1 On 14 July 2022, the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) 

responded to the    consultation on draft regulations.  DWP also 
published a summary of the key policies and these reflects the response 

to the consultation.  
4.2 One of the key areas of the response relates to the LGPS staging date.  

The staging date for the LGPS, and all other public sector pension 

schemes, will be deferred from 30 April 2024 to 30 September 2024. 
4.3 The staging date has been deferred as public sector schemes will be 

dealing with the      impact of the regulatory changes for the McCloud 
remedy from October 2023. 

4.4 On 19 July 2022 the Pensions Dashboard Programme (PDP) launched a 

consultation and call for input on standards and guidance. The closing 
date for this consultation was 30 August 2022. 

4.5 On 3 August 2022, the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) 
confirmed that frozen refunds will be out of scope for initial dashboards 
because they are not considered to be member benefits. This does not 

exclude them from being a future consideration. 
4.6 This is a disappointment from the perspective of the LGPS, who has 

more frozen refunds than other pension schemes and public sector 
groups. They are also potentially of value to members and are expensive 
for us as a Fund to administer. 

 

5 McCloud Update 

5.1 Later this year, DLUCH intend to publish the Government’s response to 
their 2020 consultation, setting out decisions on the matters covered in 
that consultation. In addition, DLUCH intend to publish an updated 

version of the draft regulations implementing the McCloud remedy taking 
into account new powers within the Act governing the underpin, as well 

as some technical aspects and changes in policy. 

Page 77

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/pensions-dashboards-consultation-on-the-draft-pensions-dashboards-regulations-2022/outcome/summary-of-key-policies-draft-pensions-dashboards-regulations-2022
https://www.pensionsdashboardsprogramme.org.uk/standards/pensions-dashboards-standards-consultation/


5.2 It is expected that the draft regulations will be subject to a further period 
of consultation in early 2023. It is anticipated that regulations will be 

finalised later in 2023 and will come into force on 1 October 2023. 
Additionally, DLUCH intend to issue the necessary statutory guidance for 

these regulations in 2023. 

 

6 Data Quality Report 2022 

6.1 Each year, the quality of our data is reviewed and measured in 
accordance with guidance set out by the Pensions Regulator. This 

serves two main purposes. Firstly, it feeds into the future year’s Data 
Improvement Plan, and secondly it provides the Data Quality scores for 
the Dorset County Pension Fund which must be reported to The 

Pensions Regulator each year and recorded in the Fund’s Annual 
Report. 

6.2 Despite the change to a new administration system in the last year, the 
results for 2022 are excellent. This reflects the extensive work carried out 
by the team during the data migration process, including separate 

projects to look at data comparison figures for annual benefit statements 
in both the old and new systems, and a commitment to investigate all 

discrepancies.  
6.2.1 Common Data – this is the reporting items applicable to all pension 

schemes. The overall score of tests passed for common data held was 

99.07%, which is marginally lower that the 2021 score of 99.40%.     
6.2.2 Scheme Specific Data, (also known as ‘Conditional’ data) is the data 

specific to the LGPS. The overall score for scheme specific data was 
94.38, a slight reduction from the 2021 98.90%.  
The reduction in the conditional data score is a result of migration issues 

following our administration system change.  
6.2.3 A data improvement plan and a full report are currently being finalised. 

This, together with continued discussions with our software supplier 
regarding the supplied reports, means that we are in a good position 
going forward. 

 

7 Valuation 2022 Update 

7.1 The required data for the 2022 Valuation has been successfully extracted 
and has been provided to the Scheme Actuary together with the 
necessary pensioner payroll data. Preparation for the data submission 

included the team clearing 18,900 errors, a considerable effort by the 
team to ensure accuracy of our data, this was completed within the 

agreed timescales. 
7.2 The separate payroll provision has caused additional cost and a large 

number of errors. This additional complexity for the valuation should be 

addressed moving forward as the payroll system for pensioners becomes 
integrated with our administration system. 

Page 78



7.3 It is anticipated that employer contribution rates can be confirmed by 
November 2022. 

7.4 McCloud – Additional work for this valuation concerns the inclusion of 

consideration for the McCloud remedy. In March, DLUCH wrote to all 

administering authorities setting out the expected approach to be taken 
to value member benefits under the McCloud remedy. 

7.5 For this valuation, focus will only be given to active members. The 

process involves considering the potential value, based on current data, 
of any additional benefits that may be due under the new proposals. I 

have asked the actuary to feedback on this impact once the data is 
available 

7.6 Climate Risk – this is the first valuation in which consideration is to be 

given to climate risk. This is a requirement by GAD under the 
recommendations of their latest Section 13 review, as well as being 

supported by DLUCH. 
7.7 Climate Risk is a significant risk, currently considered by the Fund in its 

investment strategies.  This valuation considers climate change as a risk 

in its own right. For this valuation, Barnett Waddingham have been 
working with GAD and other actuarial firms to produce a key set of 

principles with which to approach climate risk.  
7.8 Longevity – Barnett Waddingham has analysed longevity in the DCPF 

for the 2022 valuation. Please see their final report in Appendix 5. The 

analysis was caried out by longevity specialists using the Dorset Fund’s 
data for the 5 years up to 31 December 2021. These results will be used 

to set the assumptions for the 2022 valuation calculations. 
7.9 Overall, the outcome is that life expectancies are lower than they were at 

the 2019 valuation, and it is estimated that this will improve the funding 

position by around 3%, reducing the primary rates by around 0.6% of 
pay. The full final impact will be reported as part of the initial results.  

 

8        Overseas Existence Checks  

8.1 The Fund receives monthly reports of UK deaths to check against our 

pensioner data base, guarding against fraud and overpayments. 
However, there is no equivalent to check on possible deaths for our 

pensioners living overseas, for whom there is a higher risk of fraud. 
8.2 The Fund is starting a project, working with Western Union, to complete 

Existence checks on all overseas pensioners. This involves a process of 

Life Certification, where pensioners are required to have their identity 
checked, in person, at a nearby Western Union Office. A £10 currency 

equivalent is given to the pensioner once the process is complete, to 
thank them for their help and assistance. Alternative arrangements will 
be in place to assist members who cannot, for health or location reasons, 

attend a Western Union Office in person.  
8.3 The DCPF has a total of 453 pensioners living overseas in 28 countries, 

of this total, 447 can be covered by the project, 6 cannot be covered as 

Page 79



they live either in South Africa or St Helena Island. These members will 
be written to, and the alternative process used to check their identity. 

8.4 Initially, a letter will be sent in September 2022 to inform members in 
advance of this exercise, and this will be followed by a further letter in 

November setting out the process of Life certification and the necessary 
instructions. 

8.5 Pensioners who do not complete the Life Certification process by the 

completion date will be contacted again, and if necessary, their pension 
payments will cease until a satisfactory identity check has been 

completed. It is expected that this project should be completed by March 
2023. 

 

9        Employer Update  

9.1 Below is an update on recent employer movements and changes within 

the Fund. The last update was provided in March 2022, and so the 
details below are changes since that date. 

9.2 Bournemouth Transport was reported as a ceased Fund employer, as at 

28 September 2021, in the March 2022 administration report. 
Bournemouth Transport was in the process of setting up a Deferred Debt 

Arrangement to manage outstanding liabilities to the Fund. However, 
Bournemouth Transport has now gone into receivership.  
 

New admitted bodies   

Name   
Date 

admitted  
Service  

Enigma CCTV Ltd  01/08/2022  CCTV monitoring  

  

Cessations   

Name   Date Ceased  

Arts Development Company  31/03/2022  

  

 

10 GAD publishes 2016 Cost Cap Valuation Report for the LGPS  

10.1 The Cost Cap is a complex process managed by the Government 

Actuary’s Department (GAD), and is a requirement of the Public Service 
Pensions Act 2013 

10.2 This process measures the cost of the LGPS, with the current target cost 
being 19.50% of pay. Legislation requires action of this target cost is 
breached by +/- 2% of pay. Any such breach would lead to the 

adjustment of scheme benefits or contribution rate changes to members. 

Page 80

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/25/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/25/contents/enacted


10.3 The initial results published in 2018 suggested a negative breach and 
proposals were set out to adjust member benefits accordingly. However, 

the cost cap mechanism was paused in light of the McCloud judgement 
and revisited with this additional potential impact taken into account. 

10.4 On 29 June GAD published the 2016 cost cap updated valuation report 
for the LGPS which take into account McCloud costs. These results 
show no breach of the cost cap floor or ceiling. Therefore, there will be 

no changes to member benefits or contribution rates as a result of the 
2016 cost cap mechanism. 

10.5 However, this is still subject to an ongoing legal challenge by the Fire 
Brigades Union and the British Medical Association which questions the 
validity of pausing the process initially, and questions the way in which 

the McCloud costs have been accounted for within the process. 

 

11        SAB Annual report 2021 

11.1 On 13 June 2022 the Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) published the 
LGPS’s scheme annual report for 2021. This provides a single source of 

information about the LGPS taking into account the 86 administering 
authorities as at 31 March 2021. 

11.2 Highlights from the report include: 
- Total membership grew by 1.08% to 6.225 million 
- Total assets increased to £342 billion, an increase of 23.4% 

- Local Authority net return on investment over the year was 
20.56% 

- A positive cash-flow was maintained overall 
- Over 1.8 million pensioners were paid 
- CCOVID-19 significantly affected life expectancy, with a drop of 

0.9 years and 0.5 years for males and females respectively 
- Total management charges increased by 12.9% to £196 million, 

while administration, oversight and governance costs remained 
broadly the same 

 

12        HMT consultation on public sector exit payments 

12.1 On 8 August 2022, HM Treasury (HMT) launched a consultation on 

public sector exit payments, proposing expanded approval processes for 
employee exits and special severance payments, and additional 
reporting requirements. 

12.2 The guidance is intended to apply to all bodies classified as ‘Central 
Government’. This does not include local authorities or bodies under 

devolved administrations. The guidance will apply to academies. 
 

1. Financial Implications 

N/A 

Page 81

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cost-cap-valuation-of-the-local-government-pension-scheme-england-and-wales
https://lgpsboard.org/index.php/schemedata/scheme-annual-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-sector-exit-payments-a-new-controls-process-for-high-exit-payments
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-sector-exit-payments-a-new-controls-process-for-high-exit-payments


2. Climate Implications 

None 

3. Well-being and Health Implications  

None 

4. Other Implications 

N/A 

5. Risk Assessment 

5.1 HAVING CONSIDERED: the risks associated with this decision; the level 

of risk has been identified as: 

Current Risk: N/A 

Residual Risk: N/A 

 

6. Equalities Impact Assessment 

 

N/A 

 

7. Appendices 

Appendix 1 – KPIs (May 2022 to July 2022) 

Appendix 2 – DCPF Annual Benefit Statement 2022 

Appendix 3 – Annual Newsletter for Active members 

Appendix 4 – Deferred Member Annual Benefit Statement 2022 

Appendix 5 - Longevity Analysis Report 

 

8. Background Papers 

LGPS Regulations 2013 

Cost cap valuation of the Local Government Pension Scheme (England 

and Wales) - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Public Service Pensions Act 2013 (legislation.gov.uk) 

LGPS Scheme Advisory Board - Scheme Annual Report (lgpsboard.org) 

Page 82

https://dorsetcc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/kate_critchel_dorsetcouncil_gov_uk/Documents/New%20folder%20(2)/There#Equalities
http://www.lgpsregs.org/schemeregs/lgpsregs2013/timeline.php
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cost-cap-valuation-of-the-local-government-pension-scheme-england-and-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cost-cap-valuation-of-the-local-government-pension-scheme-england-and-wales
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2013/25/contents/enacted
https://lgpsboard.org/index.php/schemedata/scheme-annual-report


Summary of key policies: Draft Pensions Dashboards Regulations 2022 - 

GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Pensions dashboards standards consultation | Pensions Dashboards 

Programme 

Public Sector Exit Payments: a new controls process for high exit 

payments - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 

 

 

Page 83

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/pensions-dashboards-consultation-on-the-draft-pensions-dashboards-regulations-2022/outcome/summary-of-key-policies-draft-pensions-dashboards-regulations-2022
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/pensions-dashboards-consultation-on-the-draft-pensions-dashboards-regulations-2022/outcome/summary-of-key-policies-draft-pensions-dashboards-regulations-2022
https://www.pensionsdashboardsprogramme.org.uk/standards/pensions-dashboards-standards-consultation/
https://www.pensionsdashboardsprogramme.org.uk/standards/pensions-dashboards-standards-consultation/
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-sector-exit-payments-a-new-controls-process-for-high-exit-payments
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-sector-exit-payments-a-new-controls-process-for-high-exit-payments


This page is intentionally left blank



 

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Welcome to your
Dorset County Pension Fund
Annual Benefit Illustration 2022

P
age 87



1

 

 

 

 

 

  Full name:

Date of birth:

Partnership status:

Employer at 31/03/2022:

Date joined Scheme:

Post ref number:

Actual Pensionable Pay:

If you have more than one active post each will have a separate pension record and illustration. Statements are only 
issued for employments that commenced before 1 April 2022.

You require two years’ Scheme membership to qualify for a pension in the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS), unless you have transferred in previous pension entitlements. If you leave with less than two years’ 
membership you may not qualify for the benefits in this Illustration.

Section of Scheme at 31/03/2022:

Full Time Equivalent Pensionable Pay:

 

Personal details
Please check this section carefully and notify us of any incorrect personal information.  If we do not hold your 
partnership details on our system, please notify us in writing, enclosing photocopies of your:

• marriage / civil partnership certificate / decree absolute

• spouse / partner’s birth certificate

A partner's pension will only be shown on this illustration if we hold your marital status as married, civil 
partnership or cohabiting partner, as shown below. Regardless of the status currently held on our records, a
partner's pension would be paid if applicable.

P
age 88



Present value of scheme benefits at 31 March 2022
(per annum)

(per annum)

(for pre 2008 membership only)

Current value of Pension Debit:

Current value of Lump Sum Debit:

Current value of Spouse’s Pension Debit:

(per annum)

(for pre 2008 membership only) 

(per annum)

The above figures have been calculated, based on a projection of your accrued pre April 2014 Final Salary benefits, if 
applicable, plus your CARE benefits up to your Normal Retirement Date (NRD). More details are on page 5.

Pension Debits amounts resulting from Pension Sharing Order(s) 

The above figures show the current value of your LGPS benefits accrued up to 31 March 2022, assuming you retire on 
or after your State Pension Age, which is the Normal Retirement Date (NRD) for LGPS scheme benefits. 

A partner's pension will only show if your held partnership status is married, civil partnership or cohabiting.

Projection to Normal Retirement Date
Normal Retirement Date (NRD):

Projected Total Pension at NRD:

Projected partner’s pension at NRD:

Automatic lump sum :

(per annum)

(per annum)

(for pre 2008 membership only)

Total pension at 31 March 2022:

Partner’s pension:

Automatic lump sum:

These amounts are not reflected in the figures in this statement. The actual amount of your deductions will be calculated 
when your benefits are drawn. Any deductions for Scheme Pays Offset are included throughout this statement.

2

P
age 89



3

Breakdown of Scheme benefits at 31 March 2022
Your pension entitlement is calculated using the pay provided by your employer.  If these figures are incorrect it will 
affect your pension when you retire.  Any queries regarding these pay figures should be sent to your employer.

Pension for pre April 2014 membership: (per annum)

Lump sum for pre 2008 membership: 

Please note that your Final Salary benefits are based on your full time equivalent pay (Final Pay) at date of leaving.  
Changes to the amounts quoted in this section will be the result of changes to your full time equivalent (Final Pay) only.

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Total pension at 31 March 2022:  (per annum)

 

                             

 
  
  

 

   

 
 
 
 

  
   
  
 
 

   
   
   

  

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Additional Voluntary Contributions
(AVCs) are not included in this 
illustration, but you should receive 
an annual illustration directly from 
your AVC Provider.

If you have purchased Additional 
Pension Contributions (APCs),
Additional  Regular Contributions (ARCs)
or Added Years, the amount purchased 
will be included in your  Total Pension.

   
    
 

  

Any  Pension Sharing Order  debits 
are  not  included in these  figures, but 
are  shown separately on page 2.
However, Scheme Pays Offsets for 
Annual  Allowance tax charges  are
included.

Your total pension is made up of your final salary benefits and your CARE benefits as detailed below.

Final Salary Benefits at 31 March 2022 – applicable for membership built up to 31 March 2014

Full Time Equivalent Pensionable Pay (Final Pay):

   Pre 1 April 2008 Membership:

Membership from 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2014:

P
age 90



4

Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) benefits at 31 March 2022

Actual Pensionable Pay (CARE Pay) in year 01/04/2021 – 31/03/2022:

Amount of pension built up in year 2021/22

Main section 50/50 section Additional pension 
bought

In year CARE 
transfers in

Total

Pay/49 = £ Pay / 98 = £ £ £ £      

CARE pension account at 31 March 2022

 In Year build up  
(as shown above)

£ + £ + £ = £  per annum 

Please ensure that you check the CARE pensionable pay above, which has been provided by your employer. If this 
figure is incorrect it may adversely affect your pension when you retire.

Your CARE pay figure is: 
 9  the actual pensionable pay 

received this financial year
 9  provided by your employer
 9  used to calculate the amount 

of pension earned in a year.

Reductions to pay
In cases of sickness, injury or contractual parental leave your CARE pay includes 
amounts added by your employer to ensure you don’t lose out on pension for this year.

In cases of authorised unpaid leave (including unpaid parental leave) your CARE 
pay will be lower. Your employer would have informed you how you could make 
up this shortfall.

Total career average 
pension at 31 March 2022

Cost of living adjustment
(added 1 April 2021)

Closing balance at
31 March 2021

P
age 91



5

Projections if you remain contributing to the Scheme until your Normal Pension Age

Normal Retirement Date (NRD):

 per annum

 per annum

 per annum

 per annum

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

  Projected CARE Pension at NRD:  £

Projected Final Salary pension at NRD:  £

Projected Total Pension at NRD:  £

Automatic lump sum:  £

Projected Partner’s pension to NRD:  £

These benefits have been calculated, based on a projection of your accrued pre 1 April 2014 Final Salary benefits, if 
these apply, plus your CARE benefits up to your Normal Retirement Date (NRD). Please be aware that pension 
projections using CARE assume that the same amount of CARE pension will be added each year and assume you 
continue working, receiving the same pay, until your NRD.  Please note that any scheme debits as listed on page 2  will
not be reflected in this projection, but Annual Allowance Scheme Pays debits are included in the projection.

Your Normal Retirement Date is your State Pension Age (SPA) (with a minimum of age 65), this may change if the 
Government alters your State Pension Age. This projection assumes that each year you will have the same amount of 
pension added to your pension account. Members can choose to retire voluntarily from age 55, however benefits would 
be reduced for early payment if taken before your NRD.

Retirement tax free lump sum

On retirement you will have the option to take part of your benefits as a tax-free cash lump sum by giving up part of 
your pension. You will receive £12 lump sum for every £1 of yearly pension given up. Under current tax legislation, the 
maximum lump sum that you can take is 25% of the capital value of your pension benefits. Details of this are provided 
upon retirement. If you have membership prior to 1 April 2008, this will have a provision for an automatic lump sum 
based on your pre 1 April 2008 membership and 3/80th of your Full Time Equivalent Pay (Final Pay).

P
age 92



6

Life cover and family protection
If you die whilst in active service, the LGPS would ensure that your family is supported. It provides:

• a lump sum death grant of three times your actual pay, regardless of your length of membership
• an ongoing pension for your spouse, civil partner or eligible cohabiting partner.
• 

 

Deferred and some pensioner members are also entitled to a lump sum death grant. But you may be only entitled to 
one death grant where multiple, separate entitlements exist.

Beneficiary Percentage of 
benefits payable

 

  
 
 

 
 

  

   

a pension may be payable for a child, for as long as they remain eligible.

Lump Sum death grant:  £       
Partner's  pension:        £   per annum

 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 

The current nominee(s) to receive a death 
grant upon your death is shown in the table.

If you  would like to nominate or change your 
existing nomination details, you can amend 
your details on My Pension, our member 
portal, details on page 10.

Alternatively, please complete and return an
‘Expression of Wish’ form. Details of where 
to  find this form are on the back page.

The DCPF Administrator has absolute 
discretion over who receives any lump sum 
death grant.

P
age 93



7

How benefits accrued before 1 April 2014 are calculated
Pension benefits accrued before 1 April 2014 are based on the length of time you were a member of the pension 
scheme (total membership) and your Full Time Equivalent Pay (Final Pay) at leaving. Membership prior to 1 April 2008 
is based on 1/80th of your Final Pay, plus 3/80th as a tax-free lump sum. Between 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2014, for 
each year of membership or part thereof, you will receive 1/60th of your Final Pay. 

Membership

For Final Salary pension calculations, your membership  
is the number of years and days before 1 April 2014  
that you were a member of the LGPS . This will include 
the following:

•  pension rights transferred in from a previous scheme 
or employer

•  any additional membership purchased

•  any additional membership awarded by your 
employer.

If you have worked part time during any period of your 
membership prior to 1 April 2014, the part time period has 
been adjusted to reflect the part time hours that were worked.

If you worked term time, your hours have been adjusted 
and reduced pro-rata based on the full amount of weeks 
per year.

Full Time Equivalent Pensionable Pay (Final Pay)

This is usually the pensionable pay earned during your final
year of scheme membership, or one of the previous 2 years
if this is higher. The Final Pay used in this illustration has 
been provided by your employer and is based on your 
pensionable earnings in the year up to 31 March 2022.

For part-time employees the Final Pay used will be the full 
time equivalent for your employment.

Some protection may be available to you at retirement if 
your pensionable pay has been reduced or restricted. More
detailed information on this can be obtained from your 
employer.

P
age 94



8

How benefits accrued from 1 April 2014 are calculated
From 1 April 2014 your LGPS pension changed from a Final Salary 
scheme to a Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) scheme. In 
a CARE pension scheme your benefits build up each year in your 
pension account. Each year your pensionable pay is divided by the 
accrual rate of 1/49 to give the amount of annual pension gained in 
that year. This amount is added to your pension account. 

 

 

Example:
CARE pensionable pay of 
£22,000 X 1/ 49 = £448.98 
added to pension account

 

Each year the amount in your pension account is revalued in line with the Consumer Prices Index (CPI). This year
the cost of living adjustment was 3.1%. Although last year’s 0.5% increase is shown on the illustration, the 3.1%
increase due for this year is not shown. This is because the cost of living adjustment is added each year in April, after
the date of this illustration.

Example:
£448.98 added to pension account
Plus cost of living adjustment
£448.98 x 0.5% = £451.22
(£2.24 CPI)

In this example a member whose pensionable pay in the year 1 April
to 31 March was £22,000 accrued an annual pension of £451.22,
this annual income will be paid monthly throughout retirement.

Every subsequent year a further amount of annual pension would then
be added to the pension account, this amount would be paid annually in
retirement, once you have 2 years or more membership of the LGPS.

50 / 50 section

The 50 / 50 section of the Scheme is designed to help members who are unable to afford the full contribution rate.
If you have elected to be a member of the 50 / 50 section of the Scheme you pay in half the amount of your normal
contributions and receive half the amount of pension accrual during that time. However, you would still have full ill 
health and death benefits while a member of the 50 / 50 section.

P
age 95



9

Pensions Tax

 

 

The Lifetime Allowance (LTA)

The standard pensions Lifetime Allowance for 2022 to 
2023 is £1,073,100, your LTA is calculated when you 
take your pension benefits. You may be affected if you 
are paid a high salary and / or you have a lot of pension 
membership. Individual Protection 2016 may be 
possible, please see the HMRC website for further 
details regarding these protections.  

www.gov.uk/guidance/pension-schemes-protect-your-lif
etime-allowance

The Annual Allowance (AA)

Your annual allowance is the amount by which the value of 
your pension benefits may increase in any one year without 
having to apply a tax charge. Any pension growth over the 
2021/2022 AA of £40,000 may be subject to tax at your 
highest tax rate. Promotions and high pay increases may 
cause a breach of your AA. If you have breached the £40,000 
limit or are close to breaching it, we will check your pay figures
carefully and write to you individually by October 2022.

Please be aware that you are responsible for your own tax 
liabilities, DCPF are only able to inform you of the amount of 
annual allowance you have used within the DCPF fund.

Pensions Tax and Additional Pension Payments

If you are paying additional amounts into your pension account using Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs) or 
Additional Pension Contributions (APCs), you should be aware that this may cause a large increase to your  pension 
input amount in the year.  This could cause you to breach the £40,000 Annual Allowance limit or / and in some  cases 
your Lifetime Allowance.

P
age 96



10

 

 

   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

update your address

change your marital status and upload a supporting certificate

estimate how much your pension could be when  you retire 

check your membership history 

make or change your death grant nomination details

send messages and documents securely to the fund

view your  Annual Benefit Illustration information

  

Online Access to your Pension
My Pension is an online member self serve portal which  allows you to view your pension  information.

You are able to:

Visit  mypension.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk  to log in or register for My Pension.

Please note that if you registered for an online account before August 2021, you will need to register again due to 
changes in the Dorset County Pension Fund software.  

If you have any queries regarding your My Pension account, please email mypension@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
and the team will be able to help.

P
age 97



 
  

  
 

  
 

 

Contact us

If you have any queries concerning your annual
benefit illustration, which are not pay related,
please contact us  in writing, quoting Annual 
Benefit Illustration 2022:

Email:  pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
Post:  Dorset County Pension Fund, County Hall,

Dorchester. DT1 1XJ
Online: https://mypension.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/

For any pay queries please contact your 
employer directly, who will be able to check 
your details and notify us of any amendments 
that need to be made to your pension record.

Along with some useful information there are a
variety of forms available on our website:
www.dorsetpensionfund.org

More information can be found on the LGPS 
members website at:  www.lgpsmember.org

Further information and disclaimer
This illustration cannot cover every personal circumstance and does not cover rights 
that apply to a limited number of employees e.g. where protected rights apply, or 
some of those whose rights are subject to a Pension Order following divorce. Please 
do not use this illustration for retirement purposes. If you are thinking of retiring,
please obtain a estimate from Dorset County Pension Fund.

In the event of any dispute over your pension benefits the appropriate legislation 
will prevail.

P
age 98



The Local Government Pension Scheme 

Please contact us:    Dorset County Pension Fund, County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset. DT1 1XJ 

  Email:    pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk      

  Online Pension access:   https://mypension.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

  Website:    www.dorsetpensionfund.org   

Dorset County Pension Fund Newsletter 2022 

Included in this newsletter 

✓ My Pension 

✓ Cohabiting partners 

✓ Topping up your pension benefits 

✓ McCloud Judgement 

✓ 50 / 50 scheme membership 

✓ Forms and Publications 

This leaflet provides you with important information regarding the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). If you have any 

queries regarding any of the topics discussed in this leaflet, please do not hesitate to contact a member of the Dorset County 

Pension Fund (DCPF) team at: pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

My Pension — https://mypension.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ 

Cohabiting partner status 

If you have been living with a partner for more than 2 years, they may be entitled to a partner’s pension in 

the event of your death.  There are criteria, listed below, that need to be met before a cohabiting partner’s 

pension can be paid and this would be assessed at the time it is brought into payment.  

• you and your cohabiting partner are, and have been, free to marry each other or enter into a civil 

partnership with each other, for two years or more and 

• you and your cohabiting partner have been living together as if you were a married couple or civil 

partners for two years or more, and 

• neither you nor your cohabiting partner has been living with someone else as if you / they were a 

married couple or civil partners in the last two years, and 

• either your cohabiting partner is and has been dependent on you, or you are and have been 

financially interdependent on each other for the last two years or more. 

If you wish to let us know of a cohabiting partner, there is a form available www.dorsetpensionfund.org/

forms-and-publications .  However, this is not a requirement for a cohabiting partner’s pension to be 

paid, as this would be assessed, and supporting evidence requested, if you should die. 

The Dorset County Pension Fund (DCPF) have an online member self serve 

portal where you can access details of your pension benefits. Once 

registered you will be able to change personal details, view your most recent 

Annual Benefit Illustration, send secure messages and documents to the fund 

and see what your pension would be worth at different retirement dates.   

If you have not used the My Pension portal since before 1 August 2021, you 

will need to reregister as the portal has been updated.  

Page 99



If you are planning to retire and have an in-house Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs) contract 

either with the Prudential or with Utmost Life and Pensions, you need to be aware that new regulations 

came into force on 1 June 2022. 

Your AVC fund is a defined contribution pension entitlement and you have some choices on how you 

could take your fund.  The new regulations state that you must get guidance from Pension Wise to help 

you to decide which option is best for you. Pension Wise is a service from MoneyHelper. It is a free, 

impartial service sponsored by the Government to help you understand your AVC options. 

Because it is such an important decision, we are not allowed to proceed with a pension application until 

you tell us that you have either received guidance from Pensions Wise (in connection with your application 

to take your AVCs in the LGPS) or you do not wish to take Pension Wise guidance. This is a legal 

requirement.  

When you are ready to retire, further information will be sent to you along with your pension information if 

this new guidance will affect you. Due to these added requirements, a retirement with an in-house AVC 

may take more time to complete. 

If you are thinking about increasing the pension you will receive when you retire, there are two options 

provided as part of the LGPS. 

Option 1 Additional Pension Contributions (APCs) 

If you are in the main section of the LGPS, you can pay 

additional contributions to buy extra pension. The most that you 

can buy is £7,352 of extra yearly pension. You can pay for the 

extra pension by paying Additional Pension Contributions 

(APCs) over a number of complete years or by paying a lump 

sum. If you pay tax, you will get tax relief on the additional 

contributions you make.   

Any application for an APC (that is not shared cost due authorised unpaid leave) is subject to a certificate 

of good health signed by a medical practitioner. 

You can look at how much it would cost you by visiting 

www.lgpsmember.org/help-and-support/tools-and-calculators/buy-extra-pension-calculator  

 

Option 2 Additional Voluntary Contributions 

When you pay Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs), you build up a pot 

of money which is used to provide pension and / or lump sum on top of your 

LGPS benefits. Up to 100% of your AVC fund can be used to access a tax 

free lump sum, up to HMRC limits. AVCs are taken directly from your pay 

before your tax is worked out, so if you pay tax, you receive tax relief 

automatically.  The Dorset County Pension Fund use the Prudential as their in-house AVC provider.  

An application to start an AVC can be made on the Prudential website at  

www.mandg.com/pru/workplace-pensions/employees/public-sector-avc-schemes/local-gov 

For further information about the two options above there is a factsheet available on the DCPF website at 

www.dorsetpensionfund.org/forms-and-publications/topping-up-pension-benefits 

Topping up your pension benefits 

AVC retirement additional requirements 

Page 100



 

The McCloud Judgment 

What is the McCloud case about? 

When the Government reformed all public service pension schemes in 2014 and 2015, it introduced 

protections for older members. In December 2018, the Court of Appeal ruled that younger members of the 

Judges’ and Firefighters’ pension schemes have been discriminated against because the protections do 

not apply to them. This ruling is often called the ‘McCloud judgment’ after a member of the Judges’ 

Pension Scheme involved in the case. 

What does it mean for the LGPS? 

When the LGPS changed from a final salary to a career average pension scheme in 2014, members who 

were within ten years of their Normal Pension Age on 1 April 2012 were given protection from the 

changes. The Normal Pension Age in 2012 was generally 65. In simple terms, when a protected member 

takes their pension, the benefits payable under the career average and final salary schemes are 

compared. The higher amount is paid. This protection is called the underpin. 

To remove the discrimination, the Government will need to provide younger members with protection 

equal to the underpin protection already given to older members. 

Who will this affect? 

We understand that the changes will apply to LGPS members who: 

• were in service on 31 March 2012 

• have service after 31 March 2014, and 

• do not have a disqualifying break. A disqualifying break is a period of more than five years when you 

were not a member of a public service pension scheme. 

When will the changes come into effect? 

It is expected that any changes will not be introduced before April 2023. 

Do you need to take any action? 

You do not need to take any action. The Government has confirmed that members who qualify for 

protection do not need to make a claim for the changes to apply to them. Any additional benefits will be 

assessed when you leave the LGPS and will be applied automatically. 

Thinking of opting out of the LGPS? Try the 50/50 section of the scheme 

With the cost of living so high many pension savers might be tempted to opt out of their pension scheme. 

However if you opt out of the LGPS, you will be losing valuable benefits and protections for you and your 

family, such as ill health pensions, and a death grant lump sum of three times your pay. 

Instead of opting out, the LGPS offers flexibility to pay half 

your normal contribution rate and build up half your normal 

pension. This is called the 50/50 section of the LGPS. You 

keep full life and ill-health cover if you join the 50/50 section.  

If you would like to move into the 50/50 section of the 

scheme, please complete and return a 50/50 election form.  

This form can be found on our website at: 

https://www.dorsetpensionfund.org/forms-and-

publications/50-50-section-election-form/  

Page 101



Information in this leaflet is correct at the time of printing and is provided for information purposes only. We cannot cover 

personal circumstances and any advice given does not affect your statutory rights or over-ride existing legislation. 

July 2022 

Disclaimer 

Did you know? 

At 31 March 2022 the Dorset County 

Pension Fund had; 

 27,095 Active Members 

 25,495 Pensioner Members 

 25,169 Deferred Members 

 

Between 01/04/2021 and 31/03/2022 there 

were 17,101 cases processed including; 

 1,685 members retired 

 4,346 members joined 

Forms and publications 

In addition to the member portal, My Pension, the Dorset County 

Pension Fund also maintains an information website for members.  

This website can be found at www.dorsetpensionfund.org and 

contains a range of useful information, factsheets and forms 

including: 

 

Factsheets 

LGPS Scheme Guide 

How Can I Increase my Pension Benefits    Forms 

Guide to Retirement        Pension membership form 

Salary Sacrifice         50 / 50 election form 

Reductions in Pay and the effect to your LGPS Pension  Expression of Wish form 

Transferring in Previous Pension Rights to the LGPS  Cohabiting partner notification form 

Life Cover and Survivor Benefits      Divorce information consent form 

Please remember: 

Check the pay used in your Annual Benefit Illustration leaflet. 

Let us know about any change of address. 

Ensure your death grant nomination (expression of wish) is up to date. 

Minimum Pension Age to rise 

In 2014 the Government announced that the 

minimum age at which most members could be 

permitted to draw their pension benefits would 

rise from 55 to 57 with effect from April 2028.  

This will not apply to ill health retirements which 

can be taken at any age, subject to having two 

years membership. 

The LGPS regulations have not yet been 

changed to take account of the new Minimum 

Pension Age.  When the regulations are 

changed, it is anticipated that protections for 

existing members will apply.  Further information 

will be provided at that date. 

Page 102



1

  
 

Deferred Benefit
Illustration  2022

Page 103



2

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Dear

I am pleased to send you your latest annual benefit illustration, providing 
details of the deferred benefits that have accrued from your membership 
within the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). Your benefits 
increase each year in line with the cost of living. The benefits shown on the 
enclosed statement have been index-linked up to and including the 2022 
Pensions Increase Review Order of 3.1%.

Contained within this illustration are the benefits you have accrued up to your 
date of leaving, including any cost of living increases to date, accompanied 
by information and explanations to help you understand what the benefits 
mean to you. It is important that you read everything contained within this 
booklet, if you still have a query after reading the explanations, then please 
do not hesitate to contact us.

We welcome any feedback you may have on your illustration. Please let us 
know if you find it easy to understand or if there is anything we could improve.

For more information regarding the scheme please visit our website at:
www.dorsetpensionfund.org or the LGPS members’ website at:
www.lgpsmember.org

Or alternatively you can email us at: pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

The information in this booklet is for illustration purposes only and should 
not under any circumstances be used to help you make a decision about 
retirement.  If you are considering accessing your benefits, you must 
contact Dorset County Pension Fund to check the information and obtain a 
formal estimate of your pension benefits.

Yours sincerely,

Karen Gibson
Service Manager for Pensions

Page 104



3

Personal details
Please check this section carefully and notify us of any incorrect personal 
information.  If we do not hold your partnership details, or your details are 
incorrect, please notify us in writing, enclosing photocopies of your:
- Marriage / civil partnership certificate
- Spouse / partner’s birth certificate

If you have become divorced or your civil partnership has been dissolved, we will 
require photocopies of the relevant legal documents to amend our records.

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Cohabiting Partners (Post 01/04/2008 members only)
If you left the scheme after 1 April 2008 it is possible for a cohabiting 
partner to receive a pension on your death. To be considered a cohabiting 
partner your relationship has to meet certain conditions laid down by the 
LGPS, for example you must have been free to marry and be living with your 
partner for a period of at least two years. If you wish to notify the fund of a 
cohabiting partner you can obtain a form from the Dorset County Pension 
Fund website at the following address: www.dorsetpensionfund.org

Rejoining the LGPS
If you rejoin the LGPS in England or Wales you should notify the fund, in 
which you are now an active member, of this deferred benefit, unless this is 
with the Dorset County Pension Fund.

You should also notify the Dorset County Pension Fund of any new active 
membership with other Funds in the LGPS.

Full name:

Date of birth:

Partnership status:

NI number:

Pension folder reference:

Date left scheme:

Page 105



4

Present value of scheme benefits
This shows the current value of your benefits, assuming your benefits will 
be paid either at your Normal Retirement Date or the date, if earlier, when 
your benefits would be paid without any reduction. If you elect to take your 
benefits before that date a reduction will apply. Your Normal Retirement 
date is explained on page 7.

In some cases there is a minor reduction in the annual pension (called 
‘modified annual pension’) because reduced, or ‘modified’, contributions 
were made to the Scheme before 1 July 1980.

Date valued to:

Current pension:

Retirement lump sum:

Contingent partner’s pension:

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

11 April 2022

 
 

 
 

 

All Pensions Increases to date are included in the above pension figures.

Increases to benefits
Your deferred benefits increase in line with inflation. The benefits shown 
above have been index-linked up to and including the 2022 Pensions 
Increase Review Order of 3.1%.

Debits to pension
The above amounts have not been reduced by any Pension Debits or 
Scheme Pay Offset amounts. The amount of the deductions will be 
calculated when benefits are drawn.

Claiming your deferred pension
The Dorset County Pension Fund will write to you just before you reach your
Normal Pension Age, providing details on how to claim your pension. If you
would like to access your pension earlier, with a reduction, you will need to 
contact us using the details on page 11 of this leaflet. This is subject to you
reaching age 55.

Page 106



5

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Pension Scams
Unfortunately, pension scams are on the rise in the UK. In some cases, the 
scammer will try to persuade you to transfer your pension to a different 
scheme, often a scheme the scammer has set up themselves. Falling 
victim to a pension scam could mean that you lose some or all of your 
pension savings.

The Government has identified common pension scam risks which, if 
present, may suggest you are in danger of being scammed. The 
Government calls these red and amber flags.

If you elect to transfer, to help protect your pension from scammers, the 
Government requires us to decide whether any red or amber flags are 
present. We will not need to do this if you transfer to a different public 
service pension scheme, an authorised master trust scheme or an 
authorised collective defined contribution scheme.

Pension scams, where people may be tricked into handing over their 
pension pots by scammers, are on the increase; millions of people fall 
victim to scams every year. The tactics used by pension scammers to 
encourage people to transfer their pension savings to them are constantly 
changing.  Some of the tactics include offering free pension reviews, health
checks and promises of better returns to their savings, pensions loans,
upfront cash or other promotions to tempt them.  Most of these are bogus.

However, once you've transferred your money into a scam, it's too late. You
could end up losing all your pensions savings and in some cases face a tax
bill of up to 55%.

For information about pensions scams please visit 
https://www.fca.org.uk/scamsmart/how-avoid-pension-scams

All pension savers should speak to an independent adviser authorised by 
the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) before making a transfer.

Page 107



6

Beneficiary Percentage of 
benefits payable

Death before benefits become payable 
If you die before the benefits become payable, in addition to any survivor’s 
pension shown, there would be a lump sum death grant payable. The grant 
would be paid to your next of kin, legal personal representatives or your 
nominated beneficiary. Payment can be made immediately, without waiting for 
Grant of Probate or Letters of Administration to be taken out, if the fund has a 
completed, current Expression of Wish Form. Details on how to access all 
forms can be found on page 11 of this illustration.

Death grant:

Expression of Wish
The section below shows who you have nominated to receive a death grant 
upon your death. If you would like to nominate or change your existing 
nomination details, please complete an ‘Expression of Wish’ form. You are able 
to do this on My Pension, further details on page 9 or by emailing a form, 
details of where to find this form are included on page 11 of this booklet.

The Dorset County Pension Fund Scheme Administrator has absolute 
discretion over who receives any lump sum death grant.

Page 108



7

  

  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
  

 

 

 

 
 

 

This death grant would only be payable if you are not currently an active 
member of  the LGPS in England or Wales. If you have rejoined the LGPS in 
England or  Wales, the death grant payable would be the greater of:

•  the total death grant from all deferred benefits, pensions in payment and
  suspended Tier three ill health pensions, or

•  three times your pay (Assumed Pensionable Pay) in your new active
  employment.

Normal Pension Age
If you left before 1 April 2014 your Normal Pension Age would be 65.
However if you were a member of the pension scheme before 1 April 2008 
and were born before 1 April 1960 you may have a protected earlier pension
age, between age 60 and 65.

If you left after 1 April 2014 your Normal Retirement Age would be the same
as your State Pension Age. You can find out what this is at
www.gov.uk/calculate-state-pension

Your Normal Pension Date is currently:

However, if you left after 1 April 2014, this may change in the future as and 
when the Government changes State Pension Ages.

If you draw your pension before your Normal Pension Age your pension 
benefits will be subject to a reduction.

Page 109



8

Retirement lump sum
When receiving your deferred benefits on retirement you will have the 
option to take part of your benefits as a tax-free cash lump sum by giving 
up part of your pension. The maximum lump sum that you can take is  
25% of the capital value of your pension benefits. Details of this will be 
provided at retirement. If you have membership prior to 1 April 2008, you 
will have some automatic provision for a retirement grant based on 3/80th 
of your final pay. However, any service after 1 April 2008 will not generate 
an automatic lump sum. 

How your benefits are calculated
Pension benefits accrued before 1 April 2014 are based on the length of time you 
have been a member of the pension scheme (total membership) and your full 
time equivalent final pay. On 1 April 2014 the way pension is calculated changed 
to a yearly amount being added to your “pension account”.

Membership prior to 1 April 2008
Pension benefits prior to 1 April 2008 are based on 1/80th of your final pay, 
plus 3/80th as a tax free lump sum (retirement grant).

Membership between 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2014
From 1 April 2008, for each year of membership or part thereof, your 
pension is calculated as 1/60th of your final pensionable pay. 

Membership from 1 April 2014
Every year from 1 April 2014 an amount of pension is earned, which is 
added to your pension account. This is calculated as 1/49th of your actual 
pensionable pay.

If you have service transferred in from previous employments, or pension 
providers, this will be included in your benefit calculations.

Page 110



9

  

 

  

  

  

 
  

 
  

  

  

  

 
  

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  

   

 

 
 

   

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

  

 

Online access to your deferred pension
Checking your pension is now as easy as online banking with our secure
My Pension website. With My Pension you can:

•  Update personal information and contact details

•  Communicate with the fund and upload documents

•  Estimate how much your pension could be when you retire

•  Make or change your death grant  nomination details.

Visit  https://mypension.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk  to log in or register for My 
Pension.  Please note that if you registered for an online account before
2 August 2021,  you will need to register again due to changes in the 
Dorset County Pension Fund software.

The McCloud  Judgement
When the Government reformed public service pension schemes in 
2014 and 2015 it introduced protections for older members. In 
December 2018, the Court of Appeal ruled that younger members of the
Judges’ and Firefighters’ pension schemes have been discriminated 
against because the protections do not apply to them. This ruling is 
often called the ‘McCloud judgment’ after a member of the Judges’
Pension Scheme involved in the case.

When the LGPS changed from a final salary to a career average pension
scheme in 2014, members who were within ten years of their Normal 
Pension Age on 1 April 2012 were given protection from the changes.
The Normal Pension Age in 2012 was generally 65. In simple terms,
when a protected member takes their pension, the benefits payable 
under the career average and final salary schemes are compared. The 
higher amount is paid. This protection is called the underpin.

To remove the discrimination, the Government will need to provide 
younger members with protection equal to the underpin protection 
already given to older members.

If this ruling affects you, you do not need to make a claim for the
change to apply.  Your pension record will be adjusted as necessary.

Page 111



10

 
 

 

 

AVCs
If you paid Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVCs) to either the Equitable Life 
or Prudential Assurance Company whilst in active membership these are not 
included in this illustration. You should receive a separate communication 
from either company with details of your AVC.

Full details of your AVC fund will be provided on retirement.

Early access to your pension
The earliest you are able to access your pension benefits, unless on grounds on 
ill health, would be age 55.

Please be aware that if you access your pension before your normal 
retirement age, the reduction applied for taking benefits early may be high.

Transferring benefits
If you have joined or are thinking of joining another pension arrangement 
you may wish to consider transferring your LGPS benefits to it. You should 
contact your current pension provider for further information and on your 
instruction they may write to us for a transfer quotation. Please be aware 
that your LGPS pension is a valuable asset and advice should be sought 
before making any decision to transfer out your pension.

Ill health
If you are suffering from permanent ill health you can apply for early 
payment of your benefits. You can do this at any age. You will need
to apply in writing to your former employer who will refer you to a 
nominated Occupational Health professional to determine whether your 
condition qualifies you to receive early payment under the scheme rules.

Page 112



 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
  
 

 

 

Further information and disclaimer
These calculations are based on the information available at the time
and every care has been taken to ensure their accuracy. If you have any reason
to believe that the calculations made or the information we have used is wrong
(either to your benefi t or detriment) you must notify us immediately. The Dorset 
County Pension Fund reserves the right to adjust the calculations
if they are found to be incorrect or if circumstances change, and to change
payments accordingly. This notice of your benefi ts does not confer any legal or 
contractual obligation on either you or the Dorset County Pension Fund, and is 
provided on that basis. The Dorset County Pension Fund will only be liable to
pay those benefi ts to which you are lawfully entitled.

Contact us
If you have any queries concerning your annual deferred benefi t illustration
please  contact us either by email preferably, through your My Pension account, or
at the  address below, quoting a  subject heading of “Deferred Annual Benefi t 
Illustration  2022”.

pensionshelpline@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Dorset County Pension Fund
County Hall
Dorchester
Dorset
DT1 1XJ

My Pension online:  https://mypension.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/

Along with some useful information we have made a variety of forms available
on our website to help reduce time and cost spent in correspondence.
www.dorsetpensionfund.org

Alternatively you can contact the Dorset County Pension Fund and we will be 
happy to post you a hard copy.

More information can be found on the LGPS members website at:
www.lgpsmember.org

11

Page 113



Page 114



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
1 of 34 

 

 

 

 

 

Dorset County Pension Fund 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Barnett Waddingham LLP 

15 August 2022 

  

Analysis to support mortality assumptions for the 

2022 valuation 

 

P
age 115



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
2 of 34 

Introduction 

The life expectancy of a pension fund’s membership is one of the more significant assumptions made when valuing its liabilities. It is therefore important that the 

Fund Actuary has the information needed to make appropriate assumptions about the longevity of the membership in the Fund. 

Setting these assumptions is particularly challenging this valuation cycle due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and its effect on both short- and long-term 

mortality. 

The advice in this report is addressed to Dorset Council (the administering authority) of the Dorset County Pension Fund (the Fund).  It has been provided as 

background information to the triennial valuation of the Fund for both the administering authority and Fund Actuary.  It contains an analysis of past mortality 

experience (including the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic) as well as proposed demographic assumptions to be used at the 2022 valuation. 

The purpose of this report is to support discussions between the Fund Actuary and the administering authority in selecting appropriate mortality assumptions to 

use for the actuarial valuation of the Fund as at 31 March 2022 (the 2022 valuation).  We emphasise that the final demographic assumptions will be set by the Fund 

Actuary.  We have discussed the proposals in this report with the Fund Actuary. 

This advice is not intended to assist any user other than the administering authority in making decisions or for any other purpose and neither I nor Barnett 

Waddingham LLP accept liability to third parties in relation to this advice. 

This advice is subject to and complies with Technical Actuarial Standards (TASs) issued by the Financial Reporting Council (in particular, TAS 100: Principles for 

Technical Actuarial Work and TAS 300: Pensions). 

We would be happy to discuss this paper with you in more detail. 

 

Jon Palin 

Partner, Barnett Waddingham LLP 

15 August 2022 

  

P
age 116



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
3 of 34 

Contents 

Introduction .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 2 

Executive summary ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 4 

Background ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Choice of years to include in analysis........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Experience analysis .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 14 

Future longevity improvements ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 20 

Appendix 1 Limitations of the analysis ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 24 

Appendix 2 “S3” series tables .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 25 

Appendix 3 Data ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 26 

Appendix 4 Socio-economic analysis ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 28 

Appendix 5 Shape of experience analysis results for dependants and non-pensioners ......................................................................................................................................................... 33 

 

  

P
age 117



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
4 of 34 

Executive summary 

  

Purpose of the 

analysis

Gain understanding of 

Fund's current mortality 

and longevity risk by 

assessing two parts:

1) The current life 

expectancies of members

2) Future improvements 

in longevity

COVID-19

An analysis of the total 

and relative impact of the 

COVID-19 pandemic has 

been carried out.

As deaths during parts of 

2020 and 2021 were 

unusually high due to the 

pandemic, mortality 

during 2017-2019 is more 

representative of future 

mortality.

Current mortality 

assumption

We propose the current 

pensioner mortality 

assumptions are based 

on the S3 tables with a 

multiplier of 96% for 

males and 103% for 

females. 

We understand the Fund 

Actuary may round the 

multipliers for calculation 

purposes. 

Future 

improvements

For future improvements 

we propose to use the 

CMI_2021 model with a 

long-term improvement 

of 1.25% p.a., a 

smoothing parameter of 

7.0, an initial addition of 

0% p.a. and a weight 

parameter of 5% for both 

2020 and 2021

Impact on life 

expectancies

Using these assumptions 

will lead to an average 

decrease of the members' 

life expectancies of 1.5 

years for males and 1.0 

year for females at age 

65, relative to the 

previous valuation

P
age 118



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
5 of 34 

Results summary and life expectancies 

The proposed best estimate assumptions for current mortality rates and best estimate parameters for future improvement assumptions are summarised in the table 

below.  We have also included the assumptions used at the 2019 valuation.  Note that the 2019 current mortality assumptions were rounded to multiples of 5% and 

we understand the Fund Actuary may again choose to round the multipliers for the 2022 valuation for calculation purposes. 

 2019 valuation 2022 valuation 

Current mortality rates:   

Pensioners 
90% of S3PMA for males 

100% of S3PFA for females 

96% of S3PMA for males 

103% of S3PFA for females 

Dependants 
95% of S3DMA for males 

115% of S3DFA for females 

103% of S3DMA for males 

102% of S3DFA for females 

Actives and deferreds (pre-retirement mortality) 105% of GAD 
115% of GAD for males 

117% of GAD for females 

Actives and deferreds (post-retirement mortality) As for current pensioner assumptions As for current pensioner assumptions 

Future improvements:   

CMI Model CMI_2018 CMI_2021 

Long-term rate of improvement (p.a.) 1.25% 1.25% 

2020 and 2021 weight parameter (new for 2022) N/A 5% 

Initial addition parameter (p.a.) 0.5% 0% 

Smoothing parameter 7.5 7.0 

 

P
age 119



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
6 of 34 

Impact on life expectancy 

The changes in current and future improvement assumptions result in the changes in life expectancy as at 31 March 2022 shown in the table below.  The three 

columns show life expectancies for: 

• current mortality assumption used in 2019, with CMI_2018, an initial addition parameter of 0.5% p.a., a smoothing parameter of 7.5 and a long-term 

improvement rate of 1.25% p.a.; 

• best estimate current mortality assumption in 2022, with CMI_2018, an initial addition parameter of 0.5% p.a., a smoothing parameter of 7.5 and a long-

term improvement rate of 1.25% p.a. as an intermediate step; and 

• best estimate current mortality assumption in 2022, with CMI_2021, an initial addition parameter of 0% p.a., a smoothing parameter of 7.0, 5% weighting 

for 2020/21 data and a long-term improvement rate of 1.25% p.a. 

Life expectancy from age 65 (years) 2019 valuation 
2022 current mortality,  

2019 improvements 

2022 current mortality, 

2022 improvements 

Total change from 2019 

to 2022 

Male, retiring today, age 65 23.5 23.0 (-2.1%) 22.0 (-4.3%) -1.5 years (-6.4%) 

Female, retiring today, age 65 24.9 24.7 (-0.8%) 23.9 (-3.2%) -1.0 years (-4.0%) 

Male, retiring in 20 years, current age 45 24.9 24.4 (-2.0%) 23.3 (-4.4%) -1.6 years (-6.4%) 

Female, retiring in 20 years, current age 45 26.3 26.1 (-0.8%) 25.4 (-2.6%) -0.9 years (-3.4%) 

The table shows that the change in current mortality assumptions results in a decrease in life expectancies for both males and females.  The change in future 

improvement assumptions, with the change to the initial addition parameter and smoothing parameter in addition to the incorporation of a 5% weighting for 2020 

and 2021, further reduces life expectancies for both males and females. 

 

P
age 120



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
7 of 34 

Approximate impact on funding level and primary rate 

We have also considered the approximate impact of moving to the proposed 2022 mortality assumptions on the funding level and primary rate for the Fund in the 

table below.  This analysis uses financial assumptions in line with those set for the 2019 valuation.  These figures are for illustration only and the actual impact based 

on 2022 financial assumptions and full membership data will be different. 

 2019 valuation 
2022 current mortality,  

2019 improvements 

2022 current mortality, 

2022 improvements 

Total change from 2019 to 

2022 

Impact on funding level N/A +0.6% +2.3% +2.9% 

Impact on primary rate N/A -0.1% -0.5% -0.6% 

 

The table shows that the change in mortality assumptions is expected to result in an increase in the funding level and a decrease in the primary rate, with the change 

being driven more by the change in future improvement assumptions than the base table multipliers. 

  

P
age 121



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
8 of 34 

Background 

Purpose of analysis 

The Fund provides pensions and other benefits linked to the lifetime of its members.  In order to effectively carry out their role, the administering authority needs 

to understand how long the Fund members are likely to live, and to update their view from time to time. 

A view on the future mortality of members is important for the Fund Actuary to consider when setting contribution rates for the participating employers.  Our report 

is intended to provide information to support the Fund Actuary in setting mortality assumptions for the 2022 valuation of the Fund. 

This review also demonstrates good governance by the administering authority which is particularly relevant in light of additional scrutiny from the Government 

Actuary’s Department (GAD) and the Pensions Regulator on governance practices within funds. 

A view of future longevity is generally structured in two parts: 

1) life expectancy of members based on current mortality rates; and  

2) an allowance for future improvements in longevity. 

The purpose of analysing the Fund’s mortality experience is to gain a better understanding of the Fund’s ‘current’ mortality rates.  Typically, this reduces the risk that 

members of the Fund will live longer than expected, leading to the Fund not holding sufficient funds to cover the cost of members’ benefits. 

We also comment on how mortality rates may change in the future in the “Future longevity improvements” section of this report and on the impact the COVID-19 

pandemic has had on the Fund in the Choice of years to include in analysis section. 

Method 

Our analysis of the current life expectancy is based on an assessment of the mortality rates experienced by the Fund over the three-year period from 1 January 2017 

to 31 December 2019 (experience analysis) with further analysis of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on mortality experience in 2020 and 2021.  We have also 

assessed the profile of the members of the Fund based on their postcodes (socio-economic analysis).  This allows comparison of the profile of the different 

membership statuses within the Fund and between funds. 

P
age 122



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
9 of 34 

We have also undertaken similar analyses for a number of other LGPS Funds and found that the Dorset Fund exhibited a broadly similar socio-economic profile and 

actual mortality experience to the Funds of Berkshire, Buckinghamshire, Devon, Essex, Kent, Lincolnshire, Nottinghamshire and Somerset.  Throughout this report, 

we describe this group of Funds as the 2022 Combined Funds.  For membership groups where the experience of the Dorset Fund alone is less credible (due to 

there being fewer deaths) we have used results for the aggregated 2022 Combined Funds. 

A number of assumptions have been made for the socio-economic and experience analysis and the administering authority should be comfortable that they are 

appropriate.  Further details are set out in the remainder of this report. 

The assumptions proposed in this report are ‘best estimate’ assumptions, i.e. the assumptions are intended to result in an equal chance that actual mortality 

experience will be higher or lower than these assumptions. 

The actuarial valuation should use assumptions that are ‘prudent’; in other words, the assumptions should provide sufficient margins for adverse deviation consistent 

with the administering authority’s appetite for risk.  However, as we understand the Fund Actuary will allow for prudence solely through the discount rate, the 

longevity assumptions in this report are a best estimate. 

How to determine appropriate assumptions 

Setting longevity assumptions for the actuarial valuation has three steps: 

1) Determine the appropriate base table. 

2) Adjust the base table to reflect the characteristics of the Fund. 

3) Make an allowance for future improvements in longevity. 

Lives vs amounts weighted approach 

When carrying out longevity analyses, there are two possible approaches to obtaining the results: 

• Give equal weighting to each member (lives-weighted); or 

• Weighting the results based on pension amounts (amounts-weighted). 

We generally prefer an amounts-weighted analysis, as this more closely reflects the financial impact on the Fund.  However, for non-pensioner members, we have 

carried out a lives-weighted analysis, as their pensions are not yet in payment and pension amount is therefore not an appropriate way to weight the data. 

P
age 123



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
10 of 34 

Data for analysis 

Membership data, including membership movements, was provided by the administering authority, in the form of the Universal Data Capture (UDC).  More detail 

about the data used in the analysis can be found in Appendix 3 and Appendix 4.  

Data for the 2022 Combined Funds was used in the experience analysis for male dependants and non-pensioners.  The table below shows the number of deaths for 

the Fund between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2019, with the 2022 Combined Funds shown for comparison.  The table shows that pensioners have the highest 

number of deaths by a significant margin and, although there are also a large number of dependant deaths, the majority of these are for females. 

Number of deaths (2017-2019) Actives Deferreds Pensioners Dependants 

Dorset:     

Males  22  28   557   60  

Females 25  55   441   297  

Total 47   83   998  357  

2022 Combined Funds:     

Males  234   382   6,659   961  

Females  408   695   6,214   3,543  

Total  642   1,077   12,873   4,504  

P
age 124



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
11 of 34 

Choice of years to include in analysis 

We received data from the administering authority for the five-year period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2021.  However, mortality in 2020 and 2021 was 

unusual due to the COVID-19 pandemic and we have chosen not to include them in our analysis of experience and to focus instead on the three-year period from 

1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019.  In this section, we describe the considerations underlying that decision. 

Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 

The COVID-19 pandemic led to deaths in 2020 and early 2021 being 

significantly higher than in previous years.  This is illustrated by the 

chart to the right, which shows weekly registered deaths (averaged 

over three weeks to reduce volatility) in England and Wales since 

January 2020 (blue line) compared to the average in the preceding 

five years (black line).  

The longer-term impact of the pandemic on mortality is unclear at 

this stage, as the pandemic is likely to affect mortality in various ways.  

For example: 

• The pandemic could worsen future mortality, directly 

through COVID-19 itself, because of poorer health due to 

long-COVID, and the impact of delayed medical screening 

and treatments.  

• But there may be benefits from greater awareness of 

infectious diseases and advancements in vaccine science.  

Further details are provided in our recent briefing note – Covid-19: an uncertain future for mortality.  

On balance, we would expect the pandemic to lead to a modest reduction in future improvements in life expectancy.  This is reflected in our choice of 2020 and 

2021 weight parameters, as discussed in the Future longevity improvements section. 

P
age 125



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
12 of 34 

Impact on deaths in the Fund  

The analysis in this report relies on past mortality experience to inform an assumption for the future. As discussed in Appendix 1, a general limitation of mortality 

analyses is that past experience may not be a good indication of the future.  This may be a particular concern due to the pandemic. 

To understand the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic has had on the Fund’s members, we have undertaken an analysis of actual member deaths.  We have 

compared deaths in 2020 and 2021 with a “normal” level of deaths experienced before the pandemic, in 2017 to 2019.  

The charts below show the average number of deaths of retired members in the Fund by month for the period 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019 (light blue or 

yellow bars, with e.g. the January bar representing the average number of deaths in January 2017, January 2018 and January 2019), compared with the number of 

deaths in 2020 and 2021 (dark blue or yellow line) for males and females separately.  

 

The impact of COVID-19 can be seen in the number of deaths in the Fund.  The COVID-19 pandemic led to significantly higher deaths than normal in and around  

January 2021 and, to a lesser extent, April 2020, for both males and females.  Deaths for most other months were similar to the average for 2017 to 2019, although 

there is some volatility in death figures month-on-month for the Fund, due to its relatively small size compared to the general population.   

P
age 126



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
13 of 34 

This analysis gives an indication of how the Fund has been impacted by COVID-19 but it is fairly crude as it does not allow for changes in the size or age of the Fund 

membership over time. 

Impact on the socio-economic analysis 

The socio-economic analysis carried out in this report is based on members’ postcodes and pension amounts. CMI research suggests that the pandemic did not 

materially distort previously observed relative differences in mortality rates for different socio-economic classes. We therefore believe it is reasonable to continue 

to use socio-economic models that were constructed prior to the pandemic without adjustment to help set the assumptions. 

Late-reported deaths 

For the Dorset Fund, the charts on the previous page show the number of deaths falling away slightly towards the end of 2021, but we typically expect more deaths 

in winter months than in autumn months.  While there can be some fluctuation in the number of deaths occurring each month, the slight fall in late 2021 may reflect 

late-reporting of deaths (i.e. deaths that occurred before the end of 2021 but had not been reported to the administering authority by the time that data was 

provided to us).  

A mortality analysis was also carried out as part of the 2019 valuation of the Fund and there is some overlap in the data underlying that analysis and the data used 

in this analysis, as both analyses include data for the period 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2018.  To further investigate the possibility of late-reporting, we 

compared our 2019 analysis data with the 2022 analysis data for the overlapping years.  For the Dorset Fund, there were a number of additional deaths recorded in 

the 2022 analysis data, compared to the 2019 analysis data, reflecting some possible late reporting.  The majority of these additional deaths related to 2018 and 

pensioners were affected more than dependants. 

We also looked into late-reporting in a number of other LGPS Funds, where we had done a 2019 analysis and found that there was evidence of late-reported deaths 

for all membership statuses to varying degrees in both 2017 and 2018.  This was coupled with several other LGPS Funds showing striking evidence of late-reported 

deaths in 2021, when looking at the deaths by month as part of the investigation of the impact of COVID-19.    

Conclusion 

The combination of the unusual nature of mortality during the pandemic and the evidence of some late-reporting of deaths leads us to focus on the three-year 

period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019 for our analysis of experience. 

P
age 127



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
14 of 34 

Experience analysis 

The first step of the experience analysis is choosing appropriate base tables to be used as the starting point for the analysis.  We then adjust the base tables to 

reflect the characteristics of the Fund or the 2022 Combined Funds, as appropriate.  This is an iterative process, as the choice of base table may be revisited if the 

analysis suggests that our initial choice of base table is not the best fit for the experience of a fund. 

Choice of base table 

As the S3 tables are the most up-to-date tables published by the Continuous Mortality Investigation Ltd (CMI), we recommend that they are adopted for post-

retirement assumptions for the 2022 valuation.  More information about the S3 tables can be found in Appendix 2. 

For pensioner members, we believe that the most appropriate base tables are the S3PMA and S3PFA tables, which are based on data for pensioner members of UK 

pension schemes.  We believe that the most appropriate base tables for dependant members are the S3DMA and S3DFA tables, which are based on dependant 

members of UK pension schemes. 

The S3 tables are based on data for post-retirement pension scheme members. For the pre-retirement mortality assumption for non-pensioner members of the 

2022 Combined Funds (actives and deferreds) we believe that tables published by GAD for LGPS members are the most appropriate tables as these are based on 

actual pre-retirement mortality experience of public sector pensioners. 

Adjust the base table to reflect the characteristics of each Fund 

The second step is to make an adjustment to the base table.  In order to adjust the chosen base table to reflect the characteristics of the Fund or the 2022 Combined 

Funds, as appropriate, we have analysed mortality experience (i.e. the actual deaths that have occurred relative to a chosen base table) over the period from 

1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019.  This analysis results in a multiplier being proposed to each table, with a multiplier above 100% meaning that actual deaths 

have been higher than anticipated by the chosen base table and a multiplier below 100% meaning that deaths have been lower. 

A similar analysis was carried out for the 2019 valuation.  At that time, analysis for pensioners and female dependants was based on experience of the Dorset Fund 

alone, while analysis for male dependants and non-pensioners was carried out relative to a group of Funds, the 2019 Combined Funds.  The 2019 Combined Funds 

consisted of Dorset plus the Funds of Bedfordshire, Berkshire, Buckinghamshire, Devon, Essex and Somerset. 

  

P
age 128



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
15 of 34 

Pensioners 

For pensioner members, we have compared actual deaths for the Fund with the number of deaths expected under the S3PMA and S3PFA tables.  

These tables have an effective date of January 2013, i.e. the tables reflect mortality rates in 2013.  Our analysis data covers a later period, therefore we have used 

mortality improvements from the CMI Model to allow for changes in mortality between the base table date and the midpoint of our analysis period.  This allows for 

a consistent comparison between the Fund’s pensioner experience and the S3 tables. (Specifically, we have used CMI_2021 with a long term rate of improvement of 

1.25% p.a., an initial addition of 0% p.a., a smoothing parameter of 7.0, and a 2020/21 data weighting of 5%). 

The experience analysis for the Fund is based on 19,158 members and 50,094 years of exposure (i.e. less than three years of exposure for some members due to 

retirements and leavers part way through the period). There were 998 deaths during the investigation period – equivalent to about 5% of the pensioner membership. 

In order to assess whether it is reasonable to apply a single percentage adjustment to the base table at all ages, we have considered the experience by age band.  

We have done this on a lives-weighted basis, as this is less volatile than an amounts-weighted basis, although we still set our best estimate assumption based on 

the amounts-weighted experience as we believe this better reflects the financial impact of mortality on the Fund, as described in the Background section.   

The lines on the charts below compare the actual number of deaths for each age band with the number of deaths expected under the S3PxA tables (before applying 

a multiplier).  The columns show the exposure – the total number of person-years spent in each age band over the investigation period.  We show results for males 

and females separately.  Most of the exposure occurred between ages 60 and 74; however, more deaths are expected relative to exposure in higher age bands as 

mortality rates increase rapidly with age.  

P
age 129



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
16 of 34 

 

The charts show that actual deaths on a lives-weighted basis were generally higher than those expected under S3PMA for males and sometimes higher, sometimes 

lower than S3PFA for females.  The shape of actual deaths compared with expected deaths suggests that S3PxA is a reasonably good fit for the Funds’ pensioner 

membership.  The shape of experience suggests that a flat adjustment to S3PxA is broadly appropriate for pensioners. 

The mortality experience for pensioners (weighted by pension amount) during the investigation period was equivalent to: 

• 96% of the S3PMA table for males; and 

• 103% of the S3PFA table for females 

These adjustments mean that, for pensioner members, deaths have been slightly lower than anticipated under S3PMA for males and slightly higher than anticipated 

under S3PFA for females, on an amounts-weighted basis. 

  

P
age 130



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
17 of 34 

Dependants and non-pensioner members 

We have carried out similar comparisons for dependants and non-pensioner members.  

As there are few deaths at younger ages, there is significantly more volatility in the experience of the Fund for non-pensioners than for post-retirement statuses.  

We have therefore used the experience of actives and deferreds in the 2022 Combined Funds to set a single non-pensioner mortality assumption for the Fund.  We 

believe it is reasonable to do so as the socio-economic profile of the Dorset Fund is similar to those of the other 2022 Combined Funds, as seen in Appendix 4. 

Similarly, there are relatively few male dependants, leading to a small number of deaths, so we have set the assumption for male dependants based on experience 

of the 2022 Combined Funds.  For female dependants, we believe there is sufficient data to set the assumption based on experience of the Dorset Fund alone. 

For dependants, we have compared actual deaths with those expected under the S3DMA and S3DFA tables, which have an effective date of 1 January 2013.  For 

non-pensioners, we have compared actual deaths with those expected under the GAD death-before-retirement tables and we have assumed these have an effective 

date of 1 January 20161.  We have again used mortality improvements from CMI_2021 to allow for changes in mortality between the base table date and the midpoint 

of our analysis period. 

The best estimate assumptions for dependants are amounts-weighted, as for pensioners. However, we have used a lives-weighted analysis to determine best 

estimate assumptions for non-pensioners, as their pensions have not yet come into payment so amounts-weighting would be less reliable. 

 
1 The effective date for the GAD tables is not specified.  We have assumed an effective date of 1 January 2016 when using these tables as part of the 2019 

valuation and have retained that date for this valuation for consistency. 

P
age 131



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
18 of 34 

Details of the data underlying the analysis of each membership group can be found in the following table: 

 
Female Dependants  

(Dorset Fund) 

Male Dependants  

(2022 Combined Funds) 

Non-pensioners  

(2022 Combined Funds) 

Members 2,052 9,303 664,152 

Years of exposure 4,884 21,088 1,586,752 

Deaths 297 961 1,719 

Number of deaths relative to pensioners 14% 10% 0.3% 

As for pensioners, we assessed whether to apply a single multiplier at all ages by considering the shape of experience by age band.  The results of this assessment 

are shown in Appendix 5. 

Mortality experience for dependants and non-pensioners was equivalent to applying the following adjustments: 

Adjustment to base tables Dependants Non-pensioners 

 

103% of the S3DMA table for males 

102% of the S3DFA table for females 

115% of GAD table for males 

117% of GAD table for females 

 

These adjustments mean that for dependants and non-pensioners, deaths have been: 

• Slightly higher than anticipated overall under S3DFA for female dependants of the Dorset Fund on an amounts-weighted basis;  

• Slightly higher than anticipated overall under S3DMA for male dependants of the 2022 Combined Funds on an amounts-weighted basis; and  

• Higher than anticipated overall under GAD for male and female non-pensioners of the 2022 Combined Funds on a lives-weighted basis.  

P
age 132



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
19 of 34 

Post-retirement assumption for non-pensioner members 

It is important to consider whether past experience is an appropriate basis for an assumption regarding future experience; in particular, whether the type of 

pensioners within the Fund might be changing over time. 

The analysis of postcode data by membership status in Appendix 4 suggests that current pensioners are drawn from slightly higher socio-economic groups than 

current non-pensioners.  However, such differences are also evident in population data and assuming a similar socio-economic profile is prudent. 

We therefore consider that the experience analysis of current pensioners can be used to set assumptions for future pensioners and, specifically that the assumptions 

for existing pensioners can also be considered best estimate assumptions of post-retirement mortality for current non-pensioners. 

  

P
age 133



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
20 of 34 

Future longevity improvements 

The third step in choosing mortality assumptions is to make an allowance for future improvements in longevity. 

What are “mortality improvement” rates? 

The term ’mortality improvement’ refers to the percentage 

reduction in the probability of death for a particular age group from 

one year to the next.  The chart to the right shows how mortality 

improvement rates in England & Wales, averaged across ages 20-

100, have changed in recent decades.  

Mortality improvements were fairly stable in the 1980s and 1990s 

but rose in the early 2000s before falling sharply in the 2010s.  The 

largest individual fall was caused by the start of the COVID-19 

pandemic in 2020. 

 

 

 

How do we allow for future longevity improvements? 

At the previous valuation, allowance was made for mortality to improve in future using the CMI Mortality Projections Model (the “CMI Model”).  This assumes that 

initial mortality improvements, based on historical data, converge to an assumed long-term rate of improvement over a period of up to 40 years.  

We propose using the most recent version of the CMI Model, CMI_2021, for this valuation, so that actual improvements since the previous valuation and 

developments in mortality modelling are allowed for.  We note that this relies on population data published by the Office for National Statistics (ONS), which may 

P
age 134



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
21 of 34 

be revised following the publication of 2021 census for England & Wales later this year.  We will keep abreast of developments as the census results are published 

and inform you of any results that are likely to have a material impact.  

The CMI Model has numerous elements that users can adjust, to make it suitable for their work.  We have included further discussion on four elements that we 

consider are particularly relevant below. 

The long-term rate of improvement 

The long-term rate of improvement is a particularly subjective assumption as it requires users to make a judgement about what mortality improvements will be 

further into the future.  It is also the one parameter in the CMI Model for which the CMI does not provide a default value. 

As part of the 2016 analysis we examined available evidence including long-term trends, the opinions of experts and considering a model projection of future deaths 

split by cause of death.  Our analysis suggested that a long-term rate assumption in the range 1.25% p.a. to 1.75% p.a. would be appropriate.  

We do not believe there have been any fundamental changes to the underlying outlook for long-term mortality improvements since the 2016 valuation as, given 

the long-term nature of this assumption, it takes time for new evidence to emerge.  While the COVID-19 pandemic has had a large impact on recent mortality, its 

impact on long-term improvements is likely to be small.  Therefore, we propose that the best estimate range from our previous analyses remains appropriate.  We 

would suggest that the available evidence for setting the long-term rate assumption is revisited as part of the 2025 valuation. 

The Fund used an assumption of 1.25% p.a. for the 2019 valuation and we believe, in discussion with your Fund Actuary, that this remains appropriate for the Fund 

for the 2022 valuation.  

2020 and 2021 weight parameters 

Earlier versions of the core CMI model assumed that recent mortality experience in England and Wales is a good guide to predicting mortality rates in the near 

future.  However, this is unlikely to be true of experience during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The CMI_2021 model has weight parameters that enable the user to vary the weight put on the mortality data for 2020 and 2021.  The CMI has set a default of 0% 

for both the 2020 and 2021 weight parameters.  This effectively ignores the pandemic period when determining the initial level of mortality improvements, and 

assumes that mortality will broadly return to pre-pandemic expectations after the shock of the last few years.  

Setting weight parameters higher than 0% would be consistent with a view that mortality rates will be higher (and life expectancy lower) than pre-pandemic 

expectations.  

P
age 135



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
22 of 34 

Our view is that weights for 2020 and 2021 of between 0% and 10% would be reasonable.  This would reflect an expectation that mortality rates may continue to 

be higher than pre-pandemic expectations into the medium-term.  

In our calculations we have given a 5% weighting to 2020 and 2021 data within the CMI_2021 model, which we understand is the assumption that your Fund Actuary 

will propose for the 2022 valuation of the Fund. 

The initial addition to mortality improvements 

The initial mortality improvements in the CMI Model are calibrated to data for the general population of England & Wales.  The initial addition parameter allows 

us to adjust the extent to modify the mortality improvements to reflect the socio-economic profile of the Fund.  Using a positive initial addition to mortality 

improvements would imply that the Fund will have higher improvements than the general population. 

As part of the 2019 analysis we considered available evidence that suggested that pension schemes and those with higher socio-economic status may have 

experienced higher mortality improvements than the general population.  We also carried out an analysis of the mortality experience of LGPS Funds to investigate 

whether LGPS members may have experienced higher rates of mortality improvement than the general population.  Our analysis suggested that an initial addition 

of between 0% p.a. and 0.5% p.a. would be appropriate for LGPS Funds.  The most recent analysis by the CMI suggests very little difference in mortality improvements 

between pension schemes and the population.  We believe that the range 0% p.a. to 0.5% p.a. remains appropriate for the 2022 valuation but the evidence for a 

positive initial addition is slightly weaker than at the time of the 2019 valuation, and we would suggest that the evidence is reviewed again at the 2025 valuation.  

The Fund used an assumption of 0.5% p.a. for the 2019 valuation but in discussion with your Fund Actuary, we have used an assumption of 0% p.a. for our calculations 

to reflect the weaker evidence for a positive initial addition for the 2022 valuation, compared with the 2019 valuation.  

The period smoothing parameter 

The period smoothing parameter allows users to change the relative importance of recent and longer-term data when determining initial mortality improvements.  

All else being equal, a lower smoothing parameter will place more weight on recent improvements.  The impact on life expectancies and liabilities will depend on 

whether recent improvements have been lower or higher than average.  The CMI’s default value is 7.0, which it last revised in CMI_2018.  

For the 2019 valuation, the Fund Actuary chose to retain the previous default value of 7.5, rather than moving to 7.0.  We were comfortable with this approach at 

the time.  

P
age 136



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
23 of 34 

Analysis by the CMI of CMI_2021 shows that its results are less sensitive to the choice of smoothing parameter than when the parameter was first introduced for 

CMI_2016. This means that changing the smoothing parameter has less impact on liabilities than it would previously have done.  

We believe that it would still be appropriate to adopt a smoothing parameter of 7.0 or 7.5 for the 2022 valuation.  Following discussion with your Fund Actuary, we 

have used an assumption of 7.0 in our calculations, in line with the expectation that this assumption will be proposed for the 2022 valuation of the Fund.  

P
age 137



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
24 of 34 

Appendix 1 Limitations of the analysis 

It is important to note the potential limitations of these results.  

In particular, although there are a large number of pensioners, there will still be some 

volatility within the experience. Where members hold a large proportion of the total 

pension in payment within the Fund, experience on an amounts basis is likely to be 

volatile.  As the chart on the right indicates, over 40% of the total pension amount 

for pensioners in the Fund is in respect of 10% of the pensioner membership. The 

chart shows that, for the Fund, the data is highly skewed towards members with high 

pensions. 

In addition, using the experience analysis of the 2022 Combined Funds as the basis 

for setting assumptions for male dependants and non-pensioners implicitly assumes 

that the past mortality experience of the 2022 Combined Funds is a good guide to 

the future expected mortality rates of current Fund members. There may be reasons 

why this is not the case, for example: 

• Differences between the characteristics of members of the Fund and of the other members of the 2022 Combined Funds; and 

• Changes to the characteristics of the 2022 Combined Funds’ members over time or changes in the underlying drivers of mortality. 

We have used our socio-economic model (see Appendix 4) to seek to justify this approach but the model assumes that relative mortality rates can be inferred from 

postcodes.  

Finally, our analysis relies on the accuracy and completeness of the data we have used.  While we have carried out a number of reasonableness and consistency 

checks on the data, and believe it to be fit for purpose, we have not carried out full valuation checks.  Further commentary on the data can be found in Appendix 3.  

P
age 138



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
25 of 34 

Appendix 2 “S3” series tables 

The Institute and Faculty of Actuaries’ Continuous Mortality Investigation (CMI) collects data from firms of consultants acting as Scheme Actuary for pension schemes 

with a minimum of 500 pensioners.  The CMI also receives data for public sector schemes, from GAD, and from the Pension Protection Fund. 

The “S3” Series tables were published in December 2018 and are based on data between 2009 and 2016.  The “S3” tables are produced using the following subsets 

of the data: 

• The ‘Ill-health’ tables are based on data where pensioners were specified to have retired (before their normal retirement date) as a result of ill-health; 

• The ‘Normal Health’ tables are based on data where pensioners were specified to have retired other than as a result of ill-health; 

• The ‘All pensioner (excluding dependants)’ tables are based not only on the data in the previous two categories, but also on schemes where data 

contributors did not differentiate between normal and ill-health retirement; and 

• The ‘Dependants’ tables are based on data where the beneficiary is not the ex-employee, but their spouse (or other dependant). 

Separate tables are available for males and females.  In all cases, tables are available on an ‘amounts-weighted’ basis, meaning that greater weight is given to those 

with larger benefits.  Tables are also available on a ‘lives-weighted’ basis for certain subsets of data. 

In several cases, ‘Very Light’, ‘Light’, ‘Middle’ and ‘Heavy’ tables are available.  The amounts bands used to separate the tables are shown in the following table. 

 Heavy Middle Light Very light 

Males £300 - £5,000 £5,000 - £20,000 £20,000+ £40,000+ 

Females £0 - £1,000 £1,000 - £8,000 £8,000+ £16,000+ 

Readers should note that pension amount banded tables are intended to indicate variability of mortality by pension size.  However, pension amount is an imperfect 

indicator of wealth as it reflects length of service as well as earnings.  If, for example, a member had a high salary but very short service they would have a low 

pension that might suggest they belong in the ‘Heavy’ tables when in fact we might expect them to experience light mortality and belong in the ‘Light’ tables.  

P
age 139



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
26 of 34 

Appendix 3 Data 

Data supplied 

Membership data, including membership movements, was provided by the administering authority, in the form of the Universal Data Capture (UDC).  The 

membership movement data contains records of the deaths of Fund members and dependants, as well as membership movements due to new joiners, leavers and 

retirements.  

The following points should be noted in relation to this membership data: 

• As noted earlier, some deaths may be missing if they are reported after data is provided to us. However, this is unlikely to affect the data for 2017-2019 that 

we use for the experience analysis. 

• If one person had multiple member records relating to several periods of service, we have merged these for the purposes of the experience analysis – to 

avoid exaggerating the numbers of lives or deaths in the Fund over the investigation period. 

• Where members included in the data were found to have died before 1 January 2017, we have excluded these deaths from the analysis as they did not occur 

in the relevant period for the experience analysis. 

• We have excluded child dependants from our analyses, as the mortality experience is unlikely to provide a reliable guide for the assumptions and because 

this assumption has limited financial materiality. 

There were 6,423 members (7.4% of the Fund) with postcodes that were either missing, invalid or from non-UK countries.  These members were excluded from the 

Socio-economic analysis as our model is specifically designed for UK postcodes.  A map showing the location of the Fund’s members is shown in Appendix 4. 

Data validation 

A number of reasonableness checks were performed on the data as part of the analyses, including cross-checking the data with valuation data extracts and 

reconciling the membership. 

While the membership data is still in the process of being checked as part of the wider 2022 valuation process and issues may be queried with the administering 

authority, we expect that any changes in the data will be minor and are unlikely to impact on the results of this analysis.  If there is any significant change to the 

data that invalidates the results of this analysis then we will discuss this further with the administering authority. 

P
age 140



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
27 of 34 

2022 Combined Funds’ Data 

We have done equivalent data checks for each of the 2022 Combined Funds and have no significant concerns about data quality.  

P
age 141



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
28 of 34 

Appendix 4 Socio-economic analysis 

Analysis 

Barnett Waddingham have developed a model which looks at the type of neighbourhood that each member lives in, based on their full postcode (UK only). Each 

member’s neighbourhood is assessed using the ‘Acorn’ model.  This is a demographic classification tool that segments the UK population on a household level. It 

categorises domestic postcodes in the UK into one of 59 types based on the consumers’ demographic and lifestyle characteristics.  Each type is given a shorthand 

name, ranging from ‘exclusive enclaves’ (type 1) to ‘deprived areas and high-rise flats’ (type 59). 

For Dorset Fund members, the five most common of the 59 Acorn types are shown in the table below. 

Rank Description Percentage of members 

1 Retired and empty nesters 10% 

2 Comfortably-off families in modern housing 9% 

3 Asset rich families 8% 

4 Semi-professional families, owner occupied neighbourhoods  5% 

5 Better-off villagers 5% 

Our model uses the Acorn types to classify the relative prosperity of the different neighbourhoods according to the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) measure.  

This is a government classification ranking areas from 1 (most deprived) to 10 (least deprived). 

Data for analysis 

The table below shows the number of members, by sex and membership status, with valid UK postcodes, who were included in the postcode analysis.  This shows 

that the Fund’s membership is weighted towards females for all membership statuses and that there are only a relatively small number of dependants. 

P
age 142



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
29 of 34 

 Active Deferred Pensioner Dependant 

Male 9,137 6,007  7,469  775 

Female 24,373 17,342  12,902  2,140 

Total 33,510 23,349  20,371  2,915  

Results 

Comparing the Fund’s members with the general profile of pensioners in England (in the chart below) we can see that the Fund members tend to live in less deprived 

areas than pensioners in England as a whole.  This suggests that the Fund would experience slightly lighter mortality than the population of England as a whole, as 

people from higher socio-economic groups on average tend to live longer.  Members of defined benefit pension schemes are generally drawn from higher socio-

economic groups than the general population, so while we expect members of the Dorset Fund to have higher life expectancy than the general population, they 

may not have higher life expectancy than the population of pension scheme members that underlies the “S3” tables. 

The chart to the right considers the membership of the Fund as a 

whole, however, the majority of deaths in a pension scheme take  

place at pensioner ages.  We therefore show a further breakdown 

of the Fund’s membership on a lives-weighted basis split by IMD 

on page 31.  These charts suggest males and females have similar 

socio-economic profiles but that pensioners are drawn from 

slightly higher socio-economic groups than non-pensioners for 

both males and females. 

A map of the United Kingdom showing that the Fund’s 

membership is concentrated in the South West, as we would 

expect, is also shown on page 32.  A detailed map of the South 

West is shown in the top left corner.  

P
age 143



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
30 of 34 

Comparison with Combined Funds 

We have carried out similar analyses for a number of LGPS Funds.  

The chart to the right compares the IMD profiles of each of these 

Funds by looking at the cumulative distribution for male and  

female post-retirement members (pensioners and dependants 

combined).  Dorset is shown in orange with the 2022 Combined 

Funds in blue and other LGPS Funds in grey.   

The chart shows that Dorset and the 2022 Combined Funds all have 

similar socio-economic profiles, which suggests that using the 

experience of the 2022 Combined Funds where the experience of 

Dorset alone is not credible is reasonable. 

 

  

P
age 144



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
31 of 34 

Fund membership by IMD 

  

 

  

P
age 145



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
32 of 34 

Membership location  

  

P
age 146



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
33 of 34 

Appendix 5 Shape of experience analysis results for dependants and non-pensioners 

As we did for pensioners, we have considered dependant and non-pensioner experience by age band in order to assess whether it is reasonable to apply a single 

percentage adjustment to the base table at all ages.  The charts show the actual and expected numbers of deaths, under the S3DMA and S3DFA tables (for 

dependants) and GAD tables (for non-pensioners) before applying a percentage adjustment for each age-group, as well as the exposure (i.e. the total number of 

lives in each age band in each year over the investigation period) for males and females separately.  These charts are again presented on a lives-weighted basis, as 

this is less volatile than an amounts-weighted basis. 

Dependants 

For female dependants in the Dorset Fund, actual deaths are generally a little higher than expected under S3DFA, suggesting that this is a good fit for the Fund’s 

female dependant membership.  Actual deaths for male dependants in the 2022 Combined Funds were also generally a little higher than S3DMA, suggesting that it 

is a good fit for the 2022 Combined Funds’ male dependant membership.   

  

P
age 147



 

 
  

 Dorset County Pension Fund   |   Mortality Analysis   |   15 August 2022 

 
34 of 34 

Non-pensioners 

For non-pensioners in the 2022 Combined Funds, actual deaths were generally a little higher than those expected under the GAD tables for both males and females. 

The shapes of actual deaths for non-pensioner members suggest that the GAD tables are a good fit for the non-pensioner members. 

 

P
age 148



Pension Fund Committee 

21 September 2022 

Pension Fund Administrator’s Report 

For Decision 

Local Councillor(s): All 

Executive Director: A Dunn, Executive Director, Corporate Development  

     
Report Author:   David Wilkes 

Title:    Service Manager (Treasury and Investments) 
Tel:    01305 224119 

Email:    david.wilkes@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Report Status:  Public 

Brief Summary: 

The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on the pension fund’s 

funding position, and the valuation and overall performance of the pension fund’s 

investments as at 30 June 2022.  The report provides a summary of the 

performance of all external investment managers and addresses other topical 

issues for the pension fund that do not require a separate report. 

 

The estimated value of the pension fund’s assets at 30 June 2022 was £3,421M 

compared to £3,694M at the start of the financial year.   

 

Allocations to most asset classes are now at or near target, including private 

market assets. 

The pension fund’s actuary, Barnett Waddingham, undertakes a full assessment 

of the funding position every three years.  This was last completed as at 31 

March 2019 when the pension fund had a funding level of 92%.  The results of 

the latest full assessment as at 31 March 2022 are expected shortly. 

 

The total return from the pension fund’s investments over the quarter to 30 June 

2022 was -7.3%, compared to the combined benchmark return of -6.1%.  The 

total return for the 12 months to 30 June 2022 was -3.5% compared to the 

benchmark return of -0.2%.  Annualised returns for three years were 3.4% 

Page 149

Agenda Item 11



compared to the benchmark return of 4.1%. Annualised returns for five years 

were 4.4% compared to the benchmark of 5.0%. 

 

As at 30 June 2022, approximately 61% of the pension fund’s assets were under 

the management of Brunel Pension Partnership (Brunel), the pension fund’s 

Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) investment pooling manager. 

As at 30 June 2022, approximately 21% of the pension fund’s liabilities were 

hedged against inflation sensitivity through the Liability Driven Investment (LDI) 
mandate with Insight Investment, using approximately 11% of assets. 
 

Recommendation: 

 

That the Committee review and comment upon the activity and overall 
performance of the pension fund’s investments.  
 

Reason for Recommendation:     
  

To ensure that the pension fund has the appropriate management and 
monitoring arrangements in place, and to ensure that asset allocation in line with 

agreed strategic targets. 
 
1. Asset Valuation Summary 

1.1 The table below shows the pension fund’s asset valuation by asset class 

at the beginning of the financial year and as at 30 June 2022, together 

with the target allocation as agreed at the meeting of the Committee on 10 

September 2020.  

 

Asset Class £M % £M % £M %

UK Equities 373.4     10.1% 346.2      10.1% 342.1     10.0%

Global Equities 1,305.4  35.3% 1,173.1    34.3% 1,197.4  35.0%

Emerging Markets Equities 150.0     4.1% 142.5      4.2% 171.1     5.0%

Total Listed Equities 1,828.8 49.5% 1,661.8   48.6% 1,710.5  50.0%

Corporate Bonds 186.0     5.0% 168.4      4.9% 136.8     4.0%

Multi Asset Credit 169.3     4.6% 154.8      4.5% 171.1     5.0%

Diversified Returns 243.4     6.6% 236.2      6.9% 205.3     6.0%

Infrastructure 252.1     6.8% 257.4      7.5% 273.7     8.0%

Private Equity 132.2     3.6% 150.6      4.4% 171.1     5.0%

Property 345.8     9.4% 365.9      10.7% 342.1     10.0%

Cash 74.0      2.0% 53.5        1.6% -        0.0%

F/X Hedging 3.1 0.1% -1.3 0.0% -        0.0%

Total Return Seeking Assets 3,234.7  87.6% 3,047.3    89.1% 3,010.6  88.0%

Liability Matching Assets 459.0     12.4% 373.8      10.9% 410.5     12.0%

Total Asset Valuation 3,693.7  100.0% 3,421.1    100.0% 3,421.1  100.0%

31-Mar-22 30-Jun-22 Target Allocation

Page 150

https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/


2. Funding Level 

2.1 The pension fund’s actuary, Barnett Waddingham, undertakes a full 

assessment of the funding position every three years.  This was last 

completed as at 31 March 2019 when the pension fund had a funding level 

of 92% i.e. assets were estimated to be 92% of the value that they would 

have needed to be to pay for the expected benefits accrued to that date, 

based on the assumptions used.  The results of the latest full assessment 

as at 31 March 2022 are expected shortly. 

3. Investment Performance Summary 

3.1 The overall performance of the pension fund’s investments to 30 June 

2022 is summarised below (returns for three and five years are annualised 

figures). 

 

4. Investment Pooling 

4.1 In accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Pension 

Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016, 

Dorset participates with nine other LGPS funds to pool investment assets 

through the Brunel Pension Partnership.  Brunel is wholly owned in equal 

-7.3%

-3.5%

3.4%

4.4%

-6.1%

-0.2%

4.1%
5.0%

-10.0%

-8.0%

-6.0%

-4.0%

-2.0%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

Quarter 1 Year 3 Years 5 Years

Fund Return  Benchmark Return

Page 151



shares by the ten administering authorities that participate in the pool and 

is authorised by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA). 

4.2 As at 30 June 2022, approximately 61% of the pension fund’s assets were 

under the management of Brunel. 

4.3 Brunel’s performance report for the quarter ending 30 June 2022 is 

considered as a separate item on the agenda for this meeting.  This report 

includes market summaries from Brunel’s investment officers and an 

overall performance summary for the pension fund, together with more 

detailed information in relation to Dorset’s assets under Brunel’s 

management. 

5. Performance by Investment Manager  

5.1 The following tables summarise by investment manager and investment 

vehicle the value of Assets Under Management (AUM) as at 30 June 2022 

plus each investment’s return compared to its benchmark for the quarter, 

one, three and five years, and ‘Since Initial Investment’ (SII).  All 

percentages quoted for periods over one year are annualised returns. 

Brunel Pension Partnership  

 

Manager / Investment AUM Qtr 1 Yr 3 Yr 5 Yr SII

£m % % % % %

Global Equities

Brunel Global Sustainable Equities 315.7 -10.3 -10.5  -  - 0.0

MSCI AC World GBP Index -8.4 -3.7  -  - 4.4

Excess -1.9 -6.8  -  - -4.4 

Brunel Global High Alpha Equity 241.1 -10.3 -10.7  -  - 10.8

MSCI World TR Index -9.0 -2.1  -  - 9.0

Excess -1.3 -8.6  -  - 1.8

Brunel Smaller Companies Equities 147.6 -12.3 -15.5  -  - -7.0 

MSCI World Small Cap -10.1 -10.9  -  - -3.5 

Excess -2.2 -4.6  -  - -3.5 

Brunel Emerging Market Equity 142.5 -4.9 -19.5  -  - 0.6

MSCI Emerging Markets -3.9 -14.7  -  - 3.1

Excess -1.0 -4.8  -  - -2.5 

LGIM Passive Developed Equities 93.9 -8.9 -2.8  -  - 7.5

FTSE World Developed -8.9 -2.7  -  - 7.6

Excess 0.0 -0.1  -  - -0.1 

LGIM Passive Dev. Equities (Hedged) 89.0 -14.3 -11.5  -  - 5.6

FTSE World Developed Hedged -14.3 -11.4  -  - 5.7

Excess 0.0 -0.1  -  - -0.1 

Page 152



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Manager / Investment AUM Qtr 1 Yr 3 Yr 5 Yr SII

£m % % % % %

LGIM Passive Smart Beta 148.5 -4.8 3.0 7.3  - 7.8

SciBeta Multifactor Composite -4.9 2.8 7.4  - 7.9

Excess 0.1 0.2 -0.1  - -0.1 

LGIM Passive Smart Beta (Hedged) 137.2 -10.4 -6.3 6.0  - 5.8

SciBeta Multifactor Hedged Composite -10.0 -6.0 6.1  - 6.1

Excess -0.4 -0.3 -0.1  - -0.3 

UK Equities

Brunel UK Active Equity 170.5 -5.6 -2.6 0.4  - 2.9

FTSE All Share ex Investment Trusts -4.6 2.9 2.1  - 4.3

Excess -1.0 -5.5 -1.7  - -1.4 

LGIM Passive UK Equities 115.4 -5.0 1.8 2.6 1.9

FTSE All Share -5.0 1.6 2.4  - 1.8

Excess 0.0 0.2 0.2  - 0.1

Fixed Income

Brunel Multi Asset Credit 154.8 -8.6 -10.1  -  - -9.2 

SONIA + 4% 1.2 4.4  -  - 4.4

Excess -9.8 -14.5  -  - -13.6 

Other

Brunel Diversifying Returns Fund 236.2 -3.0 -1.5  -  - 2.5

SONIA + 3% 0.9 3.3  -  - 3.2

Excess -3.9 -4.8  -  - -0.7 

Private Markets

Brunel Private Equity 40.4 16.6 57.5 25.7  - 30.9

MSCI AC World Index -8.4 -3.7 8.4  - 10.5

Excess 25.0 61.2 17.3  - 20.4

Brunel Secured Income 68.0 3.2 13.2 6.9  - 6.8

CPI 4.0 9.4 4.1  - 3.8

Excess -0.8 3.8 2.8  - 3.0

Page 153



All Other Managers 

 

6. Private Markets  

6.1 The pension fund has private equity investments managed by two external 

managers, HarvourVest and Abrdn (formerly Aberdeen Standard), and 

Brunel. 

6.2 Private Equity is an asset class that takes several years for commitments 

to be fully invested.  The table below summarises the pension fund’s 

commitments, drawdowns, distributions received and closing valuations by 

manager as at 30 June 2022. 

Manager / Investment AUM Qtr 1 Yr 3 Yr 5 Yr SII

£m % % % % %

Schroders UK Small Cap Equities 60.4 -15.3 -26.1 3.5 3.4 8.9

FTSE Small Cap Ex Investment Trusts -10.5 -14.6 6.9 3.5 6.3

Excess -4.8 -11.5 -3.4 -0.1 2.6

Royal London Corporate Bonds 168.4 -9.4 -15.2 -1.3 1.2 6.6

iBoxx Sterling Non Gilts > 5 Years -9.9 -17.8 -3.2 -0.4 6.1

Excess 0.5 2.6 1.9 1.6 0.5

Insight Liability Driven Investment (LDI) 373.8 -21.1 -6.0 -2.8 0.7 7.4

Manager Supplied Benchmark -21.0 -5.4 -2.7 0.2 6.6

Excess -0.1 -0.6 -0.0 0.5 0.8

CBRE / Property 316.1 2.9 17.2 7.2 6.8 7.7

MSCI UK All Properties (Quarterly) 3.0 19.1 7.3 6.9 7.5

Excess -0.1 -1.9 -0.1 -0.1 0.2

Harbourvest / Private Equity 86.2 13.0 44.4 35.0 27.8 15.6

FTSE All Share -5.0 1.6 2.4 3.3 5.2

Excess 18.0 42.8 32.6 24.5 10.4

Aberdeen Standard / Private Equity 23.9 9.0 38.6 13.9 14.9 5.5

FTSE All Share -5.0 1.6 2.4 3.3 5.6

Excess 14.0 37.0 11.5 11.6 -0.1 

Federated Hermes / Infrastructure 95.2 2.1 11.9 6.2 6.4 7.3

10% Absolute Return 2.3 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0

Excess -0.2 1.9 -3.8 -3.6 -2.7 

IFM / Infrastructure 144.0 8.7 24.8 11.9 13.7 14.7

10% Absolute Return 2.3 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0

Excess 6.4 14.8 1.9 3.7 4.7

Page 154



Commitment Distributions Valuation

£m £m % £m £m

HarbourVest 103.4 92.6 90% 108.4 86.2

Abrdn 74.1 65.5 88% 83.3 24.0

Brunel 120.0 29.6 25% 3.8 40.4

Total 297.5 187.7 63% 195.6 150.6

Drawndown  

 

6.3 The pension fund has two external infrastructure managers, Federated 

Hermes and IFM.  The target for each manager is a 10% absolute annual 

return and this is used at the benchmark for these investments.  In 

addition to the assets under the management of Federated Hermes and 

IFM, the pension fund also has holdings in infrastructure funds under the 

management of Brunel. 

6.4 The performance of the pension fund’s property investments managed by 

CBRE is detailed in Appendix 1.  In addition to the assets under the 

management of CBRE, the pension fund also has holdings in secured long 

income property funds under the management of Brunel. 

7. Liability Driven Investment (LDI)  

7.1 A proportion of the pension fund’s assets are held in an inflation hedging 

strategy, managed by Insight Investment.  These assets are not held to 

add growth, but to match the movements in the pension fund’s liabilities. 

7.2 LDI strategies allow pension schemes to continue investing in return-

seeking assets while hedging out their liability risks through the use of 

leverage.  As at 30 June 2022 10.9% of the pension fund’s assets were 

invested in the mandate but 21.1% of the pension fund’s liabilities were 

hedged against inflation sensitivity i.e. if liabilities increased by £100M as 

a result of changes to inflation expectations, the value of the assets under 

management would be expected to increase by approximately £21M. 

7.3 The liability matching strategy is intended to hedge against the impact of 

increasing pensions liabilities which are linked to the Consumer Prices 

Index (CPI).  CPI cannot currently be hedged as there is not a sufficiently 

developed futures market, so the pension fund’s strategy targets the Retail 

Prices Index (RPI) swaps market to act as a proxy for CPI which tends to 

be lower than RPI. 

7.4 The performance of Insight is detailed in Appendix 2. 

 

Page 155



8. Pension Fund Annual Report 2021/22 

8.1  The pension fund annual report for 2021/22 will be circulated to 

Committee members shortly for comment and review, with approval to 

publish sought at the next meeting of the Committee. 

9. Financial Implications 

9.1  The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a national pension 

scheme administered locally.  Dorset Council is the administering authority 

for the LGPS in Dorset which provides pensions and other benefits for 

employees of the Council, other councils and a range of other 

organisations within the county. 

9.2  The LGPS is a ‘defined benefit’ scheme which means that benefits for 

scheme members are calculated based on factors such as age, length of 

membership and salary.  Member benefits are not calculated on the basis 

of investment performance as they would be in a ‘defined contribution’ 

scheme. 

9.3  Administering authorities are required to maintain a pension fund for the 

payment of benefits to scheme members funded by contributions from 

scheme members and their employers, and from the returns on 

contributions invested prior to benefits becoming payable. 

9.4  Contribution levels for scheme members are set nationally, and 

contribution levels for scheme employers are set locally by actuaries 

engaged by administering authorities.  As scheme member rates cannot 

be changed locally and benefits are defined, the risk of investment 

underperformance is effectively borne by scheme employers. 

10. Climate Implications 

10.1  The pension fund’s Investment Strategy Statement requires all external 

investment managers to consider and manage all financially material risks 

arising from environmental issues, including those associated with climate 

change. 

10.2  At its meeting in September 2020, the Committee agreed to a strategy of 

decarbonisation meaning a reduction in allocations of investment to 

companies which are high carbon emitters and looking to influence the 

demand for fossil fuels and their financing, not just their supply. 

Page 156



10.3  The pension fund no longer has any direct investments in individual 

companies, including ‘fossil fuel’ companies, but it does have indirect 

exposure to such companies through its holdings in pooled investment 

vehicles.  As at 31 March 2021, the value of the pension fund’s 

investments in companies primarily involved in the exploration, production, 

mining and/or refining of fossil fuels was estimated at approximately £41M 

(1.2% of total investment assets). 

11. Well-being and Health Implications  

11.1  No wellbeing and health implications arising from this report have been 

identified. 

12. Other Implications 

12.1  No other implications arising from this report have been identified. 

13. Risk Assessment 

13.1  The risks associated with the pension fund’s investments are assessed in 

detail and considered as part of the strategic asset allocation. The pension 

fund’s Investment Strategy Statement requires all external investment 

managers to consider and manage all financially material risks. 

14. Equalities Impact Assessment 

14.1  There are no equalities implications arising from this report. 

15. Appendices 

Appendix 1: Property (CBRE) Quarter 2 2022 

Appendix 2: Liability Driven Investment (Insight) Quarter 2 2022 

16  Background Papers 

Investment Strategy Statement 

Funding Strategy Statement 

 
 

Page 157

https://dorsetcc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/kate_critchel_dorsetcouncil_gov_uk/Documents/New%20folder%20(2)/There#Equalities


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 159



  Page 160



  

▪ 

▪ 

▪ 

▪ 

▪ 

Page 161



  Page 162



  Page 163



  

 % of in Progress Certifications in 2022 

Page 164



  

 

Page 165



  Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Oct-12

Apr-13

Sep-13

Feb-14

Aug-14

Jan-15

Jun-15

Nov-15

May-16

Oct-16

Mar-17

Aug-17

Feb-18

Jul-18

Dec-18

May-19

Nov-19

Apr-20

Sep-20

Feb-21

Aug-21

Jan-22

Jun-22

Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 179

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 183

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	8 Brunel Pension Partnership Quarterly Report
	9 Independent Investment Adviser's Report
	10 Pensions Administration Report
	Appendix 1 Fund KPIs May to July 2022
	Appendix 2 Annual Benefit Illustration 2022
	Appendix 3 Active Member Newsletter 2022
	Appendix 4 Deferred Member ABI 2022
	Appendix 5  longevity analysis report

	11 Fund Administrator's Report
	11.1 CBRE Dorset Q2 2022 Report
	11.2 Insight Dorset Q2 2022 Report - summary

	14 Investment Management Changes
	14.1 Brunel Paris Aligned Benchmarks training Dorset 2022.03.09


